Psychosocial hazards in work environments and effective approaches for managing them

APRIL 2019



The purpose of this report is to define psychosocial health in the workplace context, identify psychosocial health risks in the workplace and develop WorkSafe's approach to reducing psychosocial harm to New Zealand's workers.

The report is structured into three main sections that aim to:

- provide an overview of psychosocial health in the workplace
- provide an overview of how other jurisdictions have addressed psychosocial health and harm
- research-informed action, indicator development and risk management.

CONTENTS

Part 1	Psychosocial hazards at work	6
1.1	The role of WorkSafe New Zealand	8
1.2	Psychosocial hazards	9
1.3	Stress and stressors	11
1.4	Psychosocial stressors in the workplace	14
1.5	Predictors of psychosocial stress in the workplace	16
1.6	Job characteristics and the nature of work	17
1.7	Social and organisational context of work	19
1.8	Individual risk factors	22
1.9	The relationship between workplace psychosocial stressors and worker mental health	26
_	frameworks and international responses to psychosocial health risk management	29
Part 3	Research informed action, indicator development and risk management	41
3.1	Addressing different levels of interventions with a focus on the source	44
3.2	Psychosocial risk management	48
3.3	Psychosocial risk management process and models at the level of the enterprise	48
3.4	Psychosocial risk assessment	49
3.5	Macro level work-related psychosocial risk management	50
3.6	Psychosocial intervention effectiveness	52
3.7	Successful risk intervention	53
3.8	The way forward	59

appendices

Appendix A: Glossary	62
Appendix B: References and notes	63

tables

1	Categories of workplace hazards, with examples and health outcomes	7
2	Summary of psychosocial risk factors of workplace stress	16
3	Māori mental health and alignment with the four quadrants of	
	Te Whare Tapa Whā Model	24
4	Terminology	31
5	Standards covering exposure factors (standards that indicate what should be considered psychosocial hazards, sources of work stress or strain)	32
6	Standards identifying health and occupational outcomes of psychosocial risk factors and work stress/strain	35
7	Standards covering preventive actions mitigating psychosocial risk factors and sources of work stress	36
8	Standards covering psychosocial risk assessment and the measurement of stress and its causes and consequences	39
9	Standards describing administrative infrastructure involved in psychosocial risks assessment and prevention	40
10	Priorities for action against workplace bullying and violence	53
11	Challenges and barriers for workplace bullying	54
12	Actions as a function of prevention state (ie primary, secondary, tertiary)	
	across the occupational hierarchy	54
13	Success factors for workplace bullying interventions	55
14	Priorities for action against third-party violence	55
15	Challenges and barriers for workplace violence	55
16	Different levels of third party violence interventions	56
17	Success factors for third party violence interventions	56
18	Recommendations for work-related stress interventions	56
19	Social dialogue indicator framework for psychosocial risk management	57
20	Levels of evidence for mental health interventions in the workplace	58

figures

1	WorkSafe's core roles	8
2	Long term exposure to stressors in the workplace impacts on health	11
3	The general adaptation syndrome	12
4	The theory of cognitive appraisal	13
5	Top workplace hazards as identified by workplace safety representatives	
	in the UK	14
6	Two conceptual models of work stress, the job strain demand-control	
	model (left) and the effort-reward imbalance model (right)	15
7	The Mahi Oranga measure of occupational stress: framework of well-being	25
8	Framework model for the management of psychosocial risks at the	
	enterprise level	48
9	Framework model for policies regarding the management of psychosocial risks	51

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Part One: Psychosocial hazards at work

- Workplaces contain hazards, some of which may be psychosocial stressors.
- Definitions of psychosocial hazards tend to be broad, and this breadth accurately reflects the complex nature of the relationship between the social environment and health outcomes.
- An established definition of psychosocial hazards from occupational health is: When referring to work, the term 'psychosocial hazard' refers to the aspects of design and management of work and its social organisational contexts that may have the potential for causing psychological or physical harm.
- Psychosocial stressors are common in workplaces and take numerous forms.
- Exposure to psychosocial stressors, if sustained, is linked to psychiatric/ psychological disorders, illness and/or physical injury.
- Decades of descriptive occupational health and safety research has reliably demonstrated that work-related stress stemming from psychosocial hazards is associated with various physiological pathologies, including hypertension, coronary heart disease, impaired wound healing, musculoskeletal disorders and impaired immune-competence. In addition, health deficits that are in part stress-related include: bronchitis, mental illness, thyroid disorders, skin diseases, certain types of rheumatoid arthritis, obesity, tuberculosis, headaches and migraine, peptic ulcers and ulcerative colitis, and diabetes.
- Work-related stress can be influenced by both organisational and individual factors.
- Factors that are known determinants of psychosocial stress and harmful to workers health are aspects of work design - how work is organised and managed.
- There are a range of models in this field. Two in particular have been reliably empirically supported:
 - The job strain 'demand-control' model, which models job stress (or strain) as an interaction between workload demands and decision-making authority (or latitude). The job strain demand hypothesis argues that high decision latitude (ie freedom to make decisions) and low-to-moderate job demands are good for workers' health and that the combination of high job demands and low decision latitude results in high psychological strain and physical illness.
 - 2. The effort-reward imbalance paradigm, which accounts for worker-related factors such as motivation. The imbalance between high efforts and low rewards at work is central to the development of stress-related disorders.
- There are a range of upstream determinants on psychosocial health in the workplace including the state of the economy and the nature of contractual relationships governing workers' employment and the relationship between precarious employment and working conditions and health.
- Workplace bullying has been identified as a significant hazard in New Zealand. It is multi-causal and at an organisational level, it has been associated with ineffective leadership, low levels of resourcing, poor work organisation, poorly defined roles and role ambiguity, workplace cultures that stress 'get it done', workplace change and uncertainty, and poor human resources practices.
- Workplace bullying is a psychosocial stressor that at the time and afterwards can result in low self-esteem, anxiety, stress, fatigue, burnout, depression, sleep disruption, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in extreme cases.

- Workplace bullying has an impact on effective organisational functioning: reduces worker productivity, leads to increased absenteeism, lowers morale, increases mistakes being made and accidents happening, damages the organisation's reputation, leads to increased employee turnover and difficulty recruiting employees, reduces customer service and/or product quality.
- Workplace violence is one of the leading forms of occupational fatality and injury. Women are disproportionately affected by workplace violence, as too are those in non-standard forms of employment, night workers and ethnic minority groups.
- Evidence demonstrates that being employed has mental health benefits.
 However, evidence also demonstrates that poor-quality work and working conditions are detrimental to mental health.
- Specific groups (eg women, Māori, migrants) have greater vulnerability to psychosocial stressors.
- The mental health of workers to a large degree depends on the absence of psychosocial stressors.
- There is little New Zealand data to guide policy makers.

Part Two: The development of standards and frameworks and international responses to psychosocial health risk management

- Part Two of this report catalogues international standards and outlines various frameworks that can potentially be applied in New Zealand.
- The World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Labor Office (ILO) have developed guidance on psychosocial hazards, work-related stress and psychological harassment.
- A review of these standards reveals divergence in terminology related to psychosocial hazards. Non-standardised lexicons can lead to confusion and misinterpretation. In Europe, the Psychosocial Risk Management Excellence Framework (PRIMA EF) addresses these inconsistencies and provides a unified terminology for basic concepts.

Part Three: Research-informed action, indicator development and risk management

- Mitigating psychosocial hazards is informed by some key concepts:
 - 1. Good psychosocial risk management is good for business.
 - 2. Managing risk in health and safety involves a systematic, evidence-based approach and the provision of quality information prior to the design of the intervention. Risk management actions need to be evaluated and evaluation should inform reassessment and adjustment of an intervention.
 - 3. Ownership the management of psychosocial hazards is connected to how work activities are organised and carried out both managers and workers performing the work must own the risk management process.
 - 4. A good understanding of workplace context is key to designing risk management strategies and for tailoring the intervention to the particular workplace.
 - 5. A participatory approach and social dialogue is key to successful intervention. Good risk management models include recognition of the importance of worker participation. This participation must be meaningful for the worker if the work-related stress intervention is to be effective.

- 6. Psychosocial hazards are multi-factorial, typically involving factors such as work organisation, work processes, workplace, work-life balance, team and organisational culture, occupational health provisions. Multi-causality requires in-depth analysis to identify the key factors. Addressing psychosocial hazards requires a continuous management process.
- 7. Evidence should inform the psychosocial risk management process.
- 8. Acceptance that protecting workers from psychosocial hazards is not simply a legal obligation, it is also an ethical obligation.
- Prevention is stratified in terms of primary prevention, secondary prevention, and tertiary prevention. Primary prevention is the most effective, focuses on the organisation as the source of risk and emphasises the need to identify the causes and practices within the organisation that are in need of change. Primary prevention promotes organisation healthiness through addressing key aspects of organisational culture and development, tailoring the intervention to different contexts and addressing risk systematically.
- Psychosocial intervention effectiveness: organisationally focused high and moderate systems approaches (addressing working conditions) have favourable impacts at both individual and organisational levels. Individually focused interventions for work stress (low systems approaches) tend not to have favourable impacts at the organisational level.
- There have been very few evaluations of work stress interventions.
- Examples of best practice for addressing violence, bullying, harassment and mental health interventions are summarised in this part of the report.

Part 1 Psychosocial hazards at work

IN THIS SECTION:

- 1.1 The role of WorkSafe New Zealand
- 1.2 Psychosocial hazards
- **1.3** Stress and stressors
- 1.4 Psychosocial stressors in the workplace
- 1.5 Predictors of psychosocial stress in the workplace
- **1.6** Job characteristics and the nature of work
- 1.7 Social and organisational context of work
- 1.8 Individual risk factors
- **1.9** The relationship between workplace psychosocial stressors and worker mental health

Most occupations are associated with hazards of one sort or another to workers (Table 1), and these hazards differ across occupation type.

Across all occupations, however, there is widespread acknowledgement that psychosocial hazards are an important health risk for workers, yet in many workplaces, the focus remains on physical hazards. It is argued that the downplaying of workplace psychosocial hazards is primarily due to the perception that they present a more difficult and complex challenge when compared to other health and safety issues. Others, however, argue it is the lack of awareness about psychosocial hazards and their mitigation that explains their relative neglect. Following global trends, the New Zealand Government now recognises that psychosocial hazards must be minimised within our workplaces and, furthermore, that there is a requirement for workplace interventions to reduce psychological harm and promote mental health for all New Zealand workers.

WORKPLACE HAZARDS	EXAMPLES	HEALTH OUTCOMES
Physical hazards Exposure of organs to harmful physical forces	Force to the torso or head, materials entering the eye, high intensity sound	Lacerations, burns, fractures, disembowelment, brain injury, blindness, hearing loss
Chemical hazards Exposure of the organs to harmful inorganic substances	Exposure to asbestos, acid, chemical weapons	Fibrotic lung disease, asphyxiation, chemical burns
Biological hazards Exposure of the organs to harmful organic substances	Exposure to pathogenic bacteria, fungi, viruses	Infection leading to somatic illness
Ergonomic hazards A physical factor that harms the musculoskeletal system	Repetitive strain injury, vibration, heavy lifting	Musculoskeletal disorders
Psychosocial hazards Occupational hazards degrading psychological well-being	Bullying, harassment, violence, deadlines	Stress, depression, anxiety, sleep disorders, suicidal ideation
Financial hazards Risks associated with worker remuneration	Non-payment, under- payment, redundancy	Stress, postponed or suspended medical treatment

TABLE 1:

Categories of workplace hazards, with examples and health outcomes Since the 1990s, New Zealand employers have had a duty to safeguard workers against the risk of psychiatric injury. This development was in part driven by international research in occupational health that focused on the harmful outcomes and financial burden of occupational stress! In New Zealand, cases appearing in the Employment Court, under the Employment Contracts Act 1991, provided an impetus to examine employer obligations towards employees when psychiatric injury resulted from doing the work required of the employee. At this time, a distinction was made between psychological pressures, a constituent of most jobs, and types of psychological harm that employers were held responsible to minimise.² During the 1990's, numerous legislative Bills concerning health and safety at work were passed into acts, for example, the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992. In addition, the Employment Relations Act 2000 overtly stipulated that employers have an obligation to take reasonable steps to ensure the safety and health of employees at work, including their mental health.³

This review aims to provide insight into psychosocial hazards at work, how international jurisdictions have developed policy and workplace interventions to reduce psychosocial risk and what might be done in New Zealand to develop preventive interventions to reduce psychosocial hazards for New Zealand workers. Psychosocial hazards outside of paid employment are beyond the scope of this review. The review has been structured to provide WorkSafe with the evidence it needs to move forward in this priority area and to ensure that quality health advice for New Zealand workers and employers can be provided.

Because of the vast amount of material relevant to psychosocial hazards, this review is a 'horizon scan' and as such does not constitute a systematic review of all available evidence on psychosocial hazards and workplace health and harm. Nor is it a systematic review of workplace interventions and their evaluations. Rather it provides an overview of the state of play in research, policy and legislative shifts, and how various governing bodies have determined the nature of interventions in this very complex and challenging field. This scan was achieved using a desktop review of published peer-reviewed literature and institutional reports.

1.1 The role of WorkSafe New Zealand



FIGURE 1: WorkSafe's core roles

Harm prevention is one of WorkSafe's three core roles (Figure 1), and workers are at the heart of New Zealand's health and safety policies. Historically, health and safety has tended to involve a strong focus on safety and the mitigation of physical injuries. Comparatively, much less attention has been paid to the relationship between psychological well-being and the workplace context. This physical focus is also evident in the ACC compensation regime where 'mental injury' will only be considered for compensation if it results from a physical injury, sexual abuse, or exposure to a single traumatic event at work.⁴ Another significant gap in the ACC scheme is the gradual deterioration of mental health due to work stress related illness.^{5,6} Additionally, in the public health arena, there is little attention paid to the prevention of poor occupational health outcomes beyond physical injuries. This focus on physical hazards in the New Zealand workplace has, in recent times, become increasingly challenged, and there is an emerging interest in work-related health in the broader sense (ie disease, absence of disease, psychological well-being and mental health) as is evident in a range of communications, policy developments and organisational strategies.⁷ For example, New Zealand's Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 (HSWA) requires businesses to ensure the safety of their workers' mental health as well as physical health and to manage risks arising from exposures to hazards at work which may cause more than just physical harm.

As a first step to addressing psychosocial hazards in the workplace, WorkSafe is currently in the process of establishing baseline data describing the types and prevalence of psychosocial hazards in the workplace. This is being undertaken using a worker exposure survey, which includes pre-validated psychosocial measures that afford comparisons with international studies. Preliminary results will be available in March 2019. This survey is the first step to ensuring that psychosocial risk factors are part of the occupational health monitoring system in New Zealand, is evidentially based and will enable WorkSafe to track risk exposure over time.

1.2 Psychosocial hazards

Internationally, psychosocial hazards in the workplace have been referenced in research, policy, legislation and intervention design for many years. In New Zealand, HSWA asserts that a person conducting a business or undertaking is required to ensure the safety of their employees, protect both their physical and **mental health** and manage risks arising from exposure to hazards at work. While the term 'psychosocial' is not explicitly referred to in this legislation, it has been included as a key focus area in the Healthy Work Strategic Plan 2016–2026 and in the Harm Reduction Plan 2016–2019 (currently being revised) and is addressed by the Minister for Workplace Relations and Safety's Letter of Expectations 2018/2019. The shift to referring directly to 'psychosocial' hazards or risks is an outcome of greater familiarisation with international research, policy and legislation, and more generally the challenges provoked by societal shifts and changes in working life in post-industrial societies.

Early international research on work-related psychosocial hazards emphasised stress-related harm and sought to identify typical triggers of psychological harm and their impact upon mental health. In New Zealand, the research record follows the same pattern, but the quantity of research is smaller and less balanced than the studies undertaken in Western Europe and North America. As a consequence of poor support for occupational health research, the development of interventions targeting psychosocial hazards in New Zealand has been slow, fragmented and only recently embraced. New Zealand-based researchers have tended to focus on explicit psychological issues such as workplace stress and fatigue, depression, anxiety and suicide, and the methods are usually self-report surveys of individuals in specific occupational groups.

The research record in New Zealand is weak in terms of workplace context and the social and cultural dimensions within which psychosocial harm arises. The aforementioned swing toward 'psychosocial' is important and not simply a change of terminology. Instead, it constitutes a shift from a mental health perspective (ie diagnosable psychological disorders) to a less medicalised 'psychosocial' perspective. Consequently, attention is explicitly directed away from the individual and a psychiatric diagnosis and instead steered towards recognising that individuals are social beings and that social context shapes health outcomes. This shift is also an outcome of contemporary challenges to both biomedical definitions of health and the traditional application of deficit models of health, both of which focus primarily on the presence or absence of disability and disease.

Deficit models of health have been challenged by developments in the biological, medical and social sciences, where a substantial body of evidence demonstrates that the social environment and subjective experiences of this environment play a pivotal role in shaping health outcomes. Subsequently, there is international recognition that holistic models of health more accurately depict the complexity of factors that contribute to health outcomes and, furthermore, that such models have more utility when developing preventive interventions. In fact, the international trend away from deficit models of health began in 1948 with the World Health Organization's seminal definition of health: a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity.⁸

The Government's draft *Health and Safety at Work Strategy 2018–2028*⁹ also signals this shift away from the deficit model, making four direct references to 'psychosocial':

"The health and safety system needs to strongly address the **causes of occupational disease** more and this **includes psychosocial risks** like stress, fatigue and all types of violence at work" (Minister's foreword p.3)

"We want to ensure that we are reducing all significant harm, **broadening our focus** from just acute harms **to include wider health and psychosocial risks**. To achieve this focus, the Government will develop broader measures and targets, including work-related health, to replace the current injury focused targets when they expire in 2021." (p.6)

"Good risk management means having clarity about all the risks in the business, and managing them in a systematic way. This includes poorly managed risks, such as work-related health and psychosocial risks." (p.10)

"Valuing and supporting diversity in the workplace is also a contributor to **psychosocial wellbeing** through building inclusive and culturally competent workplaces." (p.11)

A definition of psychosocial hazards

The move away from deficit models of health was an important development with profound implications for the various state agencies and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) interested in, or responsible for, addressing the psychological and social aspects of work-related health. While the various definitions of 'psychosocial hazards' are very broad, the breadth accurately reflects the complex nature of the relationship between the social environment, individual psychological factors and health outcomes, in this instance the work social environment and health outcomes. The term encompasses the evidencebased understanding that **humans are bio-psycho-social beings**.

This horizon scan takes as its starting point an established definition of psychosocial hazards from the discipline of occupational health:

When referring to work, the term 'psychosocial hazard' refers to the 'aspects of the design and management of work, and its social and organisational contexts that may have the potential for causing psychological or physical harm'.¹⁰

More simply, a work-related psychosocial hazard (or risk) is an adverse workplace interaction or condition of work that compromises a worker's health and wellbeing (see Figure 2). Definitions of psychosocial risks are broad, largely because of the number of potential social and organisational aspects of work that can be hazardous to workers' health. The area is complex primarily because not all workers experience these organisational aspects in the same way, with workers' needs, competencies, perceptions and experiences mediating the nature of the health outcome. Regardless, evidence definitively shows that the psychosocial working environment has a direct role in organisational health, is quantifiable using measures of absenteeism, presenteeism,¹¹ sickness absence,¹² productivity,¹³ intention to resign and high employee turnover. Problems such as work-related stress, harassment, bullying and workplace violence are psychosocial hazards that are significant occupational health and safety issues. On the other hand, research has also established that 'good work is good for mental health' and that work 'quality' is important for well-being.^{14,15} This scan canvasses these occupational health issues, beginning with a contextualised description of stress.



Source: Kompier & Marcelissen, 1990¹⁶

1.3 Stress and stressors

Accepting that psychosocial hazards can adversely impact worker health begins with models (eg Figure 2) that invariably involve the concept of psychological stress. Fortunately, in modern times, stress is a relatively well-defined concept in both psychology and physiology. Experientially, an individual responds to environmental (physical) and life (psychological) events as they strive to execute goal-directed behaviours. Stressors are defined as those events that are evaluated as harmful or threatening by the individual and that elicit a stress response from the body. At the psychological level of description, stress is characterised by varying degrees of distress and anxiety and associated with high-arousal cognitive states that, if sustained, lead to mental fatigue and sleep disruption. At the physiological level, stress is characterised by metabolic changes that prepare the organism to survive a stressor (ie the so-called 'fight or flight' reaction), notably the mobilisation of the sympathetic nervous system. Decades of biomedical research have conclusively demonstrated that, while acute stress can be adaptive, chronic stress negatively impacts health. The classical explanation of the relationship between a stressor and poor health is conceptualised in Figure 3.

FIGURE 2:

Long-term exposure to stressors in the workplace impacts on health



FIGURE 3: The general adaptation syndrome

Source: Han Selye's classic model of stress, 1956¹⁷

When a worker is faced with a challenge (**stressor**) the initial reaction is adaptive (**alarm phase**), that is, the worker evaluates the event as harmful or threatening and in response mobilises energy resources to deal with the stressor. As the worker attempts to overcome the stressor (eg a harsh deadline), physiological activity such as heart rate, blood pressure and breathing rate increase (**resistance phase**).¹⁸ When the exposure to the stressor is prolonged, continuous or severe (such as ongoing workplace bullying), the body starts to approach its physiological limits and enters a state of high allostatic load (**exhaustion phase**). Allostatic load occurs with chronic exposure to stressors and is physiologically manifested in elevated levels of adrenalin and cortisol. Generally, sustained physiological arousal to an unresolved workplace stressor indicates that the worker is no longer coping physiologically.¹⁹ with exhaustion, organic damage or death now a possibility (**outcome**).²⁰

At the occupational level, exposure to stress-inducing psychosocial hazards is widespread, and these psychosocial stressors are known to increase the risk of chronic disease and contribute significantly to health burden. For example, across the OECD it is estimated that 25% of women and 18% of men are exposed to work stressors and experience strain. However, unlike the relatively predictable nature of physical stressors, the relationship between a psychosocial stressor and the resulting stress response is dependent on individual factors such as coping strategies and resilience. Rather than there being a proportional relationship between the intensity of the stressor and the magnitude of the stress response, as Figure 3 implies, modern conceptualisations of stress emphasise the importance of cognitive processes such as threat evaluation (Figure 4). These processes help explain individual differences in the stress response to the same stressor. Furthermore, because these models embody the concept of coping, they predict that levels of stress will vary with the adequacy of coping resources.



Source: Lazarus & Folkman, 1984.²¹

Note that the primary and secondary appraisals can occur in any order

Irrespective of causality considerations, decades of descriptive occupational health and safety research has reliably demonstrated that work-related stress stemming from psychosocial hazards is associated with various physiological pathologies²² including:

- hypertension
- coronary heart disease
- wound healing
- musculoskeletal disorders
- gastrointestinal disorders
- impaired immune competence.

In addition, health deficits that have been identified as part of stress-related disorders^{23,24} include:

- bronchitis
- mental illness
- thyroid disorders
- skin diseases
- certain types of rheumatoid arthritis
- obesity
- headaches and migraine
- peptic ulcers and ulcerative colitis
- diabetes.

1.4 Psychosocial stressors in the workplace

Aspects of work design and how work is organised and managed can have the potential to cause stress.²⁵ While individuals vary in how they evaluate events and perceive stress, there is a growing body of research documenting the broad categories of stressors. Psychosocial stressors may act independently or at times interact **in the workplace** to produce poor health outcomes.²⁶ Note that while on the surface the concepts of workplace hazards (see Table 1) and stressors are synonymous, a hazard can exist without necessarily being a stressor, with the latter necessitating the triggering of a stress response. For example, intense noise is not a stressor to a worker wearing hearing protection nor to a person at a music concert who may nevertheless be exposed to damaging levels of sound. Furthermore, whereas hazards exist externally to an individual, a stressor can be external or internal. Note, however, that the nuance between hazard (*aka* risk) and stressor is not acknowledged in the general literature, which uses the terms synonymously.

For the purpose of this report, a **psychosocial stressor** is defined simply as a workplace psychosocial hazard directly or indirectly inducing a stress response. Here, being bullied in the workplace is an example of a psychosocial hazard directly inducing stress, while witnessing workplace bullying would be an example of a hazard that could indirectly induce stress.

The research evidence documents a range of job characteristics, work environments and organisational aspects that have been shown to elicit stress and are harmful to workers' health. Figure 5, taken from a 2016 British study indicates that psychosocial stressors were identified as the dominant hazards in the work environment and that physical hazards were decreasing in significance while psychosocial hazards were increasing. As part of this study, 44% of workers in Britain reported knowing someone who had been forced to change jobs due to workplace stress.



Stress is biggest threat to workplace health

Source: www.statista.com/chart/6177/stress-is-biggest-threat-to-workplace-health

FIGURE 5:

Top workplace hazards as identified by workplace safety representatives in the UK²⁷

Descriptions (or models) of how workplace psychosocial hazards induce stress can be found in the occupational health literature. The two-dimensional job strain demand-control model (Figure 6, left) models job stress (or strain) as an interaction between workload demands and decision-making authority (or latitude). The job strain demand-control hypothesis,28-30 argues that high decision latitude (ie freedom to make decisions) and low-to-moderate job demands are good for workers' health, and that the combination of high job demands and low decision latitude result in high psychological strain and physical illness.³¹ This hypothesis has received considerable empirical support.³²⁻³⁵ For example, the Whitehall II study (a longitudinal epidemiological study of London-based civil servants) demonstrated the link between low levels of job control and an increased risk of coronary heart disease, increases in obesity due to job strain and poorer health in workers at lower levels in the workplace hierarchy (the so-called socio-economic gradient in worker health).^{36,37} Another influential approach to workplace stress is the effort-reward imbalance paradigm (Figure 6, right), which also accounts for worker-related factors such as motivation. In this interactional model, the imbalance between high efforts and low rewards at work is central to the development of stress-related disorders. Reward can be money, promotion opportunities, job security and status and esteem. Additionally, stress effects can be amplified by a person's over commitment coping style, as is the case when the worker's motivation exceeds the demands of the job.³⁸



It should be noted that high workplace effort, while attractive to employers, has been linked to chronic heart disease. While the human body is resilient to short-term demands, in a long-term demand situation, the body needs periods of rest and recuperation to activate anabolic processes and other parasympathetic activities involving 'rest and digest'. Breaks such as lunch breaks, an evening of rest and longer break periods such as weekends and vacations are necessary to maintain health. Sleep is one of the most important rest periods as this is when important biological restoration processes take place. Arguably, modern life is characterised as fast paced, with demands for high productivity, efficiency and competitiveness. As such, modern lifestyles lend themselves to a lack of rest, recovery and restitution, which may be a greater health problem than the absolute level of stress on the job.³⁹ It is also possible, however, that modern work demands may increasingly lead to two classes of occupations - those with high control or those with low control, but all with high demands.⁴⁰ This shift is already evident in New Zealand, for example, tertiary-level researchers⁴¹ (high control, high demands) and forestry workers (low control, high demands).⁴²

FIGURE 6:

Two conceptual models of work stress: the job strain demand-control model (left) and the effort-reward imbalance model (right) Psychosocial stressors can lead to symptoms of strain for the worker, where strain is a concept used throughout the occupational literature and can be considered a conceptual approximation of stress elicited by the combination of high job demands and low control at work. Strain has cognitive and psychological manifestations, including:

- the inability to concentrate
- job dissatisfaction
- affective disorders anxiety, depression and anger
- somatic symptoms such as headaches, perspiration, and dizziness
- sleep difficulties.

Prolonged strain may lead to major mental illnesses and thoughts of suicide. The Whitehall II study found that, over time, the absence of social support at work, low decision latitude, high job demands and an effort-reward imbalance were associated with increased risks of psychiatric disorders.⁴³ With strain, there are a number of workplace manifestations, including:

- increased or excessive use of alcohol or drugs (including tobacco)⁴⁴
- reduced work performance⁴⁵
- higher levels of absenteeism or sick leave^{46,47}
- increased accidents and injury
- high employee turnover48

All of these, it should be noted, impact productivity. These problems may also spill over into home life and place strain on family and close relationships, leading to unhealthy behaviours in the community (eg substance abuse or domestic violence).

1.5 Predictors of psychosocial stress in the workplace

Table 2 summarises the factors that are known determinants of psychosocial stress and harmful to workers' health, with selected facets further elaborated upon below. Work organisation has been broadly defined as the way work processes are structured and managed⁴⁹⁻⁵¹ and includes the management and supervision of production. More recent reviews focusing on work stress and its measurement have noted the need to make a distinction between the structural (objective) characteristics of work and those that are more subjective in nature, such as how the worker evaluates stressors and their work conditions.⁵²⁻⁵⁴

JOB CHARACTERISTICS AND THE NATURE OF WORK		
Job contents/demands	High physical, mental and or emotional demands, lack of variety, short work cycles, fragmented or meaningless work, under-utilisation, high uncertainty, continuous exposure to people through work	
Workload/workplace	Work overload or underload, machine pacing time pressure, deadlines	
Work schedule	Shift working, inflexible work schedules, unpredictable hours, long or unsocial hours	
Job control	Low participation in decision making, lack of control over workloads	
Physical environment and equipment issues	Inadequate or faulty equipment, poor environmental conditions (space, light, noise, thermal)	

SOCIAL AND ORGANISATIONAL CONTEXT OF WORK

Organisational culture and function	Poor communications, low levels of support for problem solving and personal development, lack of definition on organisational objectives
Interpersonal relationships Social or physical isolation, poor relationships with sup interpersonal conflict, lack of social support	
Role in organisation	Role ambiguity, role conflict, responsibility
Career development Career stagnation and uncertainty, under promotion o promotion, poor pay, job insecurity, low social value to	
INDIVIDUAL RISK FACTORS	
Individual differences Coping style, personality, hardiness, resilience	

Conflicting demands of work and home, low support at

TABLE 2:Summary ofpsychosocialrisk factors ofworkplace stress

1.6 Job characteristics and the nature of work

There are a range of upstream determinants on psychosocial health in the workplace including the state of the economy and the nature of contractual relationships governing workers' employment,^{55,56} and the relationship between precarious employment and working conditions and health.^{57,58} While it is accepted that there are beneficial health effects from being employed, it is also the case that poor psychosocial conditions can be more harmful to health than being unemployed.⁵⁹

home, dual career problems

The changing nature of work

Home-work interface

The changing nature of the world of work refers to large scale socio-economic and technological changes and the reorganisation of work in relation to progress. These changes are manifest in the restructuring of organisations and organisation of work, where downsizing of organisations is often accompanied with subcontracting and outsourcing and, in many instances, shifting the risk to these providers. Change in an organisation is a stressor associated with violence, whether this is managed organisational change which undermines identity and control, or technological change. With increased emphasis being placed on lean production practices, there are pressures towards work intensification, which is itself often accompanied with diminished control. Other changes include the emergence of teleworking (or telecommuting) and the increased use of information and communication technology. Both are accompanied by changing expectations about constant connectivity and immediately responding without delay (time compression). The workforce is increasingly expected to be 'flexible' and for workers to have a range of skills and to be open to upskilling throughout their working lives. Consequently, there has been an increase in temporary employment, potentially inducing anxiety in workers. In post-industrial societies, a greater proportion of workers are employed in the service sector, and there are growing numbers of older workers. The labour force is also increasingly globalised, with temporary and permanent migration being the main means of addressing low birth rates and a shrinking supply of workers and consumers. 'Non-standard' and temporary employment, jobs with irregular hours such as shift work and demand-driven/insecure jobs including seasonal work are likely to proportionally increase and generally involve low levels of job certainty. Increasing numbers of workers are and will be self-regulating⁶⁰ and potentially working in social isolation without social support, often within the confines of their own home.

The changing nature of work has given rise to concerns around the impacts of psychosocial hazards, and it appears likely that temporary employment status, precarious employment, atypical working hours, multi-sited work, continuing organisational change and employment insecurity will increasingly become psychosocial risk factors.

Emotionally demanding jobs

Occupations high in emotional exchanges, such as those dealing with customers and patients, may be exposing workers to psychosocial stressors. Examples of such occupations include nursing,⁶¹ social work, call centres,⁶² police^{63,64} and crime scene investigations,⁶⁵ emergency departments, prisons,⁶⁶ teaching,⁶⁷ aged care⁶⁸ and disability support, hospitality,^{69,70} censorship, security and other occupations with exposure to trauma and to people who may scared, stressed, under the influence of alcohol and other drugs, emergency workers such as ambulance workers,⁷¹ mental health workers,⁷² firefighters,⁷³ rescue workers (disaster responders).^{74,75} In the case of mental health practice, work with traumatised clients can be emotionally demanding due to the amount of emotional attention needed to process it, and there is a high likelihood of workers experiencing vicarious trauma or secondary traumatic stress, which can lead to burn out. Within the New Zealand context, Temitope and Williams (2015) reported a prevalence rate of 24.8% for burnout among the 129 counsellors in their sample.⁷⁶

The controlled expression of emotion to satisfy work requirements is known as emotional labour. Emotional labour is seen as a forced affective performance that may result in negative consequences for the performer, ranging from decreased job satisfaction to burnout. Emotional labour is performed when disparity occurs between workers' felt emotions and displayed emotions in a given occupational and organisational context. One New Zealand study reported substantial burnout among mental health field workers as a result of excessive emotional labour brought about by high workloads.⁷⁷

Low participation in decision making

Traditionally hierarchical command-and-control style management in certain occupations, for example, defence forces and police, can be considered a generator of psychosocial stress. Such structures often shun individual initiative and instead demand rigidity in decisionmaking using detailed rules. Military cultures, for example, may foster 'groupthink' and ostracise those within its ranks who question information and knowledge sourced from higher authority (ie higher rank). Such isolation combined with low decision latitude can be considered psychosocial stressors.

Performance targets

High-pressure work tasks such as challenging performance targets can give rise to workplace stress. Typical high-pressure sectors include sales and marketing, technological industries, finance and elite sport. Workers in market-dependent type sectors, which are often subject to unpredictable boom and bust cycles (or seasonal workers) may be especially vulnerable to stress, if there is uncertainty governing their employment positions. Furthermore, research shows that management that is characterised by abusive authority and setting unreasonable productivity targets is the most likely to induce violent events in the workplace. In addition, poorly organised workplaces characterised by unreasonable time pressures appear to be at greater risk of workplace bullying.⁷⁸

1.7 Social and organisational context of work

Work is rarely carried out in isolation, and an individual's interpersonal relationships within the workplace constitute another prominent source of stress. It has been argued that increased work stress is a precipitating factor in violent events ranging from bullying to homicide.

Workplace discrimination

Discriminatory behaviour involves the exclusion or restriction of a person or a group from access to opportunities that are available to others. The behaviour can cause harm, humiliation, offence or intimidation. In New Zealand, the Employment Relations Act and the Human Rights Act 1993 protect people from discrimination. Research focusing solely on discrimination in the workplace in New Zealand is limited but this is in part because discrimination invariably underpins bullying, harassment and violence. Prejudice (ideas about difference and attributing status to difference) informs discriminatory behaviour.⁷⁹

Workplace bullying

"Bullying at work is about repeated actions and practices that are directed against one or more workers, that are unwanted by the victim, that may be carried out deliberately or unconsciously, but clearly cause humiliation, offence and distress, and that may interfere with job performance and/or cause an unpleasant working environment.... The concept of bullying relates to persistent exposure to negative and aggressive behaviours of a primarily psychological nature....[and] describes situations where hostile behaviours that are directed systematically at one or more colleagues or subordinates and leads to a stigmatisation and victimisation of the recipient(s)."⁸⁰

There is a vast body of international research that has focused on workplace bullying,⁸¹ the sources of bullying,⁸² the impact on the well-being of its targets, as well as witnesses of bullying⁸³ and the association with job contentment, the social environment and health outcomes.⁸⁴ Comparatively, of all specific problems in the workplace, workplace bullying has received greater research attention in New Zealand. Research to date suggests that bullying (or 'mobbing') appears to be relatively widespread in New Zealand workplaces. To date there is no population prevalence data, but the results from the WorkSafe Worker Exposure Survey, available in March 2019, should provide the first estimates of the prevalence of workplace bullying in New Zealand.

Bullying has been investigated in a range of sectors in New Zealand, including the public service,⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷ social services,⁸⁸ tourism⁸⁹ and hospitality.⁹⁰ Rates of bullying appear highest in the public sector, health,⁹¹ education and hospitality. Based on the current research record it appears that New Zealand has higher rates of bullying when compared to equivalent jurisdictions.⁹² Bullying is more prevalent in workplace situations with role conflict and ambiguity and organisational change, in a climate of uncertainty and in a culture that is persuasively 'get it done', where negative interpersonal interactions may be overlooked, or even subtly encouraged.^{93,94}

Workplace bullying in New Zealand has been identified as a significant hazard,⁹⁵ and is multi-causal. At an organisational level, bullying has been associated with:

- ineffective leadership
- low levels of resourcing
- poor work organisation

- poorly defined roles and role ambiguity
- workplace cultures which stress 'get it done'
- workplace change and uncertainty
- poor human resources practices.

Workplace bullying is a psychosocial stressor that, both at the time and after it has ceased, can result in:

- low self-esteem
- anxiety
- stress
- fatigue
- burnout
- depression
- sleep disruption
- in extreme cases, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

In addition to having a significant impact on the person being bullied (both psychologically and socially), workplace bullying also:

- reduces worker productivity
- leads to increased absenteeism
- lowers morale
- increases mistakes being made and accidents happening
- damages the organisation's reputation
- leads to increased employee turnover and difficulty in recruiting employees
- reduces customer service and/or product quality.

Policy around workplace bullying and guidance on how to prevent it has also been developed by both WorkSafe and MBIE. Various articles of legislation in New Zealand also highlight workplace bullying and the role that employers have in addressing bullying in their workplaces, specifically: the Employment Relations Act (ERA); the Health and Safety in Employment Act, the Human Rights Act and the Harassment Act 1997.

Workplace violence

Workplace violence has been identified as a leading form of occupational injury and fatality.⁹⁶ Workplace violence is a core health and safety risk that has both physical and psychological impacts on a worker's health and well-being. Violence can be verbal abuse, threats, shouting or swearing, or it can be physical – stalking, throwing objects, hitting or damage to property. Workplace violence is illegal, and charges can be laid under criminal law. Effectively intervening to prevent violence effectively relies on addressing the full range of risk factors. Research in New Zealand suggests that it is not unusual for a workplace to have only one approach to violence at work needs to address multiple aspects and avoid the narrow interpersonal interpretations of the cause of violence and allow for a systematic appraisal of the workplace context and factors that are known to trigger violence.

The International Labour Organization (ILO) has highlighted the importance of addressing violence in the workplace, the particular vulnerabilities faced by women workers, those in non-standard forms of employment (eg casual and informal work), workers who are subject to discrimination and workers at risk of exploitation and trafficking.⁹⁷ Women are disproportionately affected by violence at work and are also disproportionately represented in low pay and both precarious employment

and working conditions, exposing them to psychosocial workplace conditions that foster violence (see below). The identification of violence at work, including gender-based violence, should be integral to health and safety prevention programmes and risk assessments.⁹⁸

Frontline workers in the public service are especially vulnerable to third-party violence because their role involves situations where there is considerable tension. For example, it is well documented that police, firefighters, ambulance workers, teachers and teaching assistants, healthcare workers and nurses are at risk of third-party violence. WorkSafe Inspectors are also at risk. In addition, carers of the elderly and those working with people with mental health difficulties are also at heightened risk. Working in healthcare is a well-known risk factor for violence, and patient aggression and violence towards employees in public hospitals has been well documented. International research has identified employees at greater risk of violence are those working in health, public administration, education, transportation and hospitality.⁹⁹ New Zealand-based research has also found that workplace violence is notably higher among those working in health and public administration.¹⁰⁰

Workers who are perceived to be different because of the colour of their skin (ie not Caucasian) experience higher levels of violence at work than do workers who are perceived to be colour neutral (ie 'white'). In the United Kingdom, violence against black and minority ethnic workers has been well documented amongst those who work in high-risk employment and particularly amongst those who work at night. For example, taxi drivers, shopkeepers and workers in bars and dance clubs have an increased risk of being subjected to violence.¹⁰¹ Violence and harassment against lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) workers is also well documented.¹⁰² In New Zealand, LGBT rights are covered by the Human Rights Act, but even when these rights are well protected legally, violence and discrimination persists and subsequently has been given attention by the UN Human Rights Council in drafting guidelines for businesses on how to address discrimination against LBGT workers.¹⁰³

Domestic violence has more recently been included in workplace union bargaining. This is in recognition of the connection between work and private life and, as noted earlier, that the separation of work and private life is largely an artifice. It also extends the reach of employment into the worlds of those who are workers who are also experiencing violence in their private life and acknowledges the impact it has on these workers and their working lives. Specifically, it recognises that domestic violence impacts on a worker's well-being while at work, has repercussions for safety at work and impacts on productivity and security. Evidence demonstrates that domestic violence also impacts on a person's work history by disrupting employment where the person changes jobs frequently and where the person is more likely to seek casual or part-time work and then also lives on a lower income. Protecting workers who are subject to domestic violence can help them retain stable work and a reliable income and may ultimately enable them to leave the violent relationship. The societal costs of domestic violence are considerable and the cost to employers of employees experiencing domestic violence is likewise high.¹⁰⁴

Recent New Zealand research estimated that domestic violence costs employers \$368 million a year, a cost that could be avoided through workplace provisions.¹⁰⁵ The Domestic Violence – Victims' Protection Bill passed its third reading in Parliament in 2018, and the new law will come into effect on 1 April 2019. The new law entitles employees who are affected by domestic violence up to 10 days of paid domestic violence leave per year. They will also be able to request a short-term variation to their working arrangements and the employer must respond within 10 working days to the variation (changes in hours, location of work and duties of work). The law also protects an employee from being treated adversely if they are known to be or suspected of being affected by domestic violence.¹⁰⁶

Harassment

Workplace harassment in New Zealand is covered by the Harassment Act. Harassment is defined as behaviour that is directed at another person such as watching, loitering, following, accosting, interfering with another person's property or acting in ways that causes a person to fear for their safety at least twice in a 12-month period. Harassment can cause humiliation, offence or intimidation. Usually, harassment behaviours are repeated, but one instance of harassment can cause reasonable stress and force an individual to resign from their job to avoid future episodes.

The research record in New Zealand focusing solely on harassment is reasonably limited, and though harassment is often included in research on bullying, it is conceptually separated from it. International research provides strong evidence that organisational tolerance provides an environment within which harassment can thrive, including harassment of a sexual nature.

Workplace harassment is a psychosocial stressor that has similar effects to other workplace stressors. Some research has explored the negative relationship between workplace harassment and self-esteem.¹⁰⁷ A number of countries have passed legislation on sexual harassment in the workplace,¹⁰⁸ for example, the 2014 Belgian Act on wellbeing at work. This Act provides detailed requirements for employers where they are obliged to provide preventive and effective procedures involving a joint response from the employer, union, health and safety committees and workplace 'persons of confidence' who can provide confidential support to victims.

It is generally acknowledged that prevention of harassment requires effective partnerships between government, employers, unions and society at large. More generally, effective implementation of enabling legislation is dependent upon an effective industrial relations system.

1.8 Individual risk factors

Individual characteristics of workers can predispose them to psychosocial hazards.

Personality

There are a number of personality variables that may be predictors of workplace stress, including:

- type A¹⁰⁹ behaviour pattern¹¹⁰ (this is a contentious and debated concept within academia)
- hardiness¹¹¹ (or resilience)
- locus of control¹¹²⁻¹¹⁵ (internal vs external control of one's life events)
- negative affectivity¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁹ (disturbance of mood, negative emotions and evaluations)
- self-esteem.¹²⁰

These factors can moderate the stressor-stress/stressor-strain relationship and shape how an individual appraises their environment. Additionally, these factors can in themselves induce stressful environments and influence the nature and response to stress. These factors also shape how an individual copes with stress and may also contribute to how an individual self-selects stressful or non-stressful working environments.¹²¹

Personality factors may combine to shape vulnerability to stress (eg type A behaviour pattern and locus of control) or provide positive support (eg internal locus of control, age, self-esteem, and skill and mastery). Negative affectivity (NA) is the most frequently noted individual factor in work stress situations. Research controlling for this trait has demonstrated, however, that work environment stressors remain strongly associated with job strain.

In personality research, there is a wide body of evidence indicating that high NA individuals appraise environmental factors more negatively than low NA individuals and, furthermore, they will also experience more distress and dissatisfaction in their working lives. As such, high NA individuals are more likely to report greater exposure to workplace stressors and greater strain across time. High NA has been linked to work and non-work measures of stressors and strains, and in occupational settings, NA is significantly correlated with a range of work stressors, including:

- role ambiguity, role conflict, interpersonal conflict, and situational constraints¹²²
- control, social support,¹²³ work demand,¹²⁴ various strain measures such as turnover intent and organisational commitment¹²⁵
- job satisfaction¹²⁶
- absenteeism¹²⁷
- burnout¹²⁸
- general psychosomatic distress.¹²⁹

Negative affectivity has generated considerable debate, with some arguing that it is a confounding¹³⁰ variable that should be controlled for in research, and others arguing that NA plays a direct and substantive role in the stress process. The latter viewpoint would argue that, because NA mediates the relationship between psychosocial stressors and strain, a high NA individual would be expected to have a heightened reactivity to stressors and more intense strain, regardless of the stressor.¹³¹

While many stress researchers have focused on individual personality differences, there are limitations to this approach. It has been observed that research in this area has been compromised by how stress is defined (varied and poorly), the use of unvalidated measures and failure to test for all the ways in which intervening variables might influence the stressor-stress-strain relationship. As such, it is recommended that caution should be exercised when the focus is on 'the individual' and psychological 'types'. A stronger focus on situational factors such as the work environment and sources of social support and training is likely to be more reliable than focusing solely on the individual.³² Primary and secondary interventions are likely to be more effective if this focus is adopted (Part Two of this report).

Gender

Women who work full-time, particularly those with managerial and professional roles¹³³⁻¹³⁵ who are single and have dependent children,^{136,137} report more ill-health and depressive symptoms than do their part-time or childless counterparts. Research has demonstrated that women are at greater risk of work stress because of home and work demands and also the type of occupation (ie caring and emotionally taxing occupations). Men are more likely than women to have high control over their work (see the job strain 'demand-control' hypothesis), and women are several times more likely to hold high-strain jobs. Some research has found that women with high job strain and large family responsibilities have greater cardiovascular risk.¹³⁸ Utilising the Whitehall II study data, researchers found that women in the lowest or middle employment grades who reported low control at work or home were at most risk for depression and anxiety. Additionally, men in the middle and highest grades were at greatest risk for both depression and anxiety if they reported low control at home.³⁹ Of relevance, in the Canadian SALVEO study, women reported higher levels of burnout than men due to lower levels of decision latitude and self-esteem as well as higher levels of work family conflict.140

Gender can also be experienced as a disadvantage in some types of work, whether in terms of **discrimination** (un/conscious bias, targeted victimisation, language and other cultural differences) **or poorer handling of job stressors**.

Selected examples include gendered burnout¹⁴¹ and work strain,¹⁴² elevated risk of women to all types of workplace violence (even within similar occupational contexts to men).¹⁴³ Additionally, ethnic differences interact with gender, such as Māori women being twice as likely to categorise their job as very or extremely stressful than non-Māori women in the same job.¹⁴⁴

Ethnicity

There is a limited body of research that focuses on either the occupational health of Māori or psychosocial health. Some research demonstrates that Māori workers experience work-related stress differently from non-Māori, and the difference is primarily shaped by the experience of institutional racism.¹⁴⁵ Cultural safety is defined as social interactions that are guided by cultural respect, that is, respect of the cultural identity of the individual, family or social group. Cultural safety has been formally recognised in the health and disability sector in New Zealand since the early 1990s. Unsafe cultural practice is practice that demeans or disempowers an individual, family or social group on the basis of cultural difference (ie difference from the assumed norm).

Another psychosocial stressor identified in the research literature is the type of work undertaken by many Māori workers, where their role and relationship with their employer may not be their only workplace obligation. For example, in addition to their formal role obligations they may be informally (or formally) relied upon to be a role model for other Māori workers, be expected to provide advice on tikanga (Māori customs and protocols) and/or offer guidance on te reo Māori. If working in a sector or industry with low numbers of Māori workers or low levels of cultural competence amongst the Māori workforce, these expectations can mean a significant increase in workload for these workers.¹⁴⁶

Stewart and Gardner (2015)¹⁴⁷ developed a Māori specific measure of occupational stress and healthy work which aimed to have cultural and ecological validity for those working in the health and disability sector. However, the measure arguably has wider utility. The measure drew on established theoretical frameworks and includes a focus on demands (workplace characteristics), resourcing (how coping is shaped) and strain outcomes. The measure also incorporated Te Whare Tapa Whā¹⁴⁸ and the development of specific items for Te Whare Tapa Whā. Te Whare Tapa Whā is a widely applied model developed by Mason Durie (1998) possessing four key components for health that are symbolically represented through the four walls of a house: taha hinengaro (the thoughts and feelings side); taha tinana (the physical side); and taha whanau (the extended family side) and the most essential requirement for health: taha wairua (dignity, respect, cultural identity, personal contentment and spirituality). In addition, Kingi and Durie's (2000) measure for Māori mental health (see Table 3) which aligns with the four quadrants of the Te Whare Tapa Whā model was also included in the Mahi Oranga framework.

WAIRUA	HINENGARO	TIANA	WHĀNAU
Dignity, respect	Motivation	Mobility/pain	Communication
Cultural identity	Cognition/ behaviour	Opportunity for enhanced health	Relationships
Personal contentment	Management of emotions, thinking	Mind and body links	Mutuality (reciprocity)
Spirituality (non- physical experience)	Understanding	Physical health status	Social participation

TABLE 3:

Māori mental health and alignment with the four quadrants of the Te Whare Tapa Whā model The finalised Mahi Oranga framework drew on established occupational health research and was also informed by qualitative research conducted by Stewart and Gardner (2015) and is presented in **Figure 7**. This framework and the validated measures are a useful tool that can be utilised by organisations to assess occupational stress and the well-being of Māori employees as well as identifying what organisations are doing well.¹⁴⁹



FIGURE 7: The Mahi Oranga measure of occupational stress: framework of well-being

Deprivation

A person's socio-economic status is closely aligned to their educational status, and it has been demonstrated that low socio-economic status is associated with poorer physical health and higher mortality. Job insecurity is a well-established risk factor in the stress literature.¹⁵⁰ It implies low control and low predictability, which are two of the fundamental dimensions of psychosocial stressors¹⁵¹ and low reward for high effort.¹⁵² There is increasing evidence that the effects of job stress on enduring health outcomes may be greater amongst lower socio-economic or occupational groups.¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵

Non-work factors

While conceptually, as well as in practice, work and home life are treated as separate entities by many, the divide is an artifice, as for most workers what happens at home can influence a working day, and what happens at work can influence events at home. Psychosocial risks and mental health are multifactorial entities and research has demonstrated that a worker's family and social networks can have both positive and negative mental health implications. Good mental health is associated with having and living with a partner, in households with young children, with low-strain relationships with partner or children, higher household income, less work/family conflicts; and, greater access to social support outside of the workplace.¹⁵⁶ Pertinently, the tensions provoked between family and work (referred to as Work-Family Conflict) can have a negative impact on mental health.¹⁵⁷

Non-work factors such as conflicted family situation, poor social support outside the workplace and personal characteristics are important factors associated with worker mental health symptoms and outcomes.¹⁵⁸ While non-work factors are outside of WorkSafe's core function, the dominant conceptual (and indeed often physical) separation of work and home has also informed the various functions and roles of ministries and Crown entities in the public sector – this highlights the very real need for a collaborative, combined and cohesive response across the public sector to the psychosocial health and mental health of New Zealanders.

1.9 The relationship between workplace psychosocial stressors and worker mental health

Psychosocial stressors can lead to stress that, if sustained, can result in mental illness. Mental ill-health is defined as maladaptive mental states that exceed clinical diagnostic thresholds according to established psychiatric classification systems.¹⁵⁹ It is estimated that, at any point in time, approximately 20% of the working-age population in the average OECD country have a mental disorder in the clinical sense. Generally, prevalence is greater amongst younger adults, women and people with low-level educational attainment.¹⁶⁰ Further, the risk of experiencing mental ill-health during a person's working life is high. Common mental disorders include mood disorders (depression), neurotic disorders (anxiety) and substance-use disorders. Of note, the 2002 Barcelona Declaration on Developing Good Workplace Health in Europe links the increase in mental disorders in Europe to increasing psychosocial stressors and strain in the workplace.¹⁶¹

Work-related stress, depression, and anxiety

The World Health Organization has projected that, by 2030, depression will be the leading cause of the global burden of disease and it is currently a leading cause of disability.¹⁶² Work-related stress, anxiety and depression are associated with exposure to psychosocial hazards in the workplace.¹⁶³ Specifically, lack of job control, having low decision latitude, low skill discretion, job strain, and effort reward imbalance are all associated with risk of depression, poor health functioning, distress, anxiety, fatigue, job dissatisfaction, burnout, vicarious trauma and increased sickness absence. There is compelling evidence that work-related stress, job strain and associated depression risks are a significant public health problem. There is also evidence that demonstrates that work-related psychosocial risk is inequitably distributed and contributes to mental health inequalities.¹⁶⁴ Work-related psychosocial hazards and exposures can be managed, and work-related incidences of stress, depression and anxiety can be prevented.

Regulatory instruments for mental health and psychosocial risks are common in EU member states, yet while these instruments address aspects of mental health and/or the psychosocial work environment stress, mental health and psychosocial hazards are not explicitly identified.¹⁶⁵

Mental health in New Zealand

One in five New Zealanders in any year will meet the diagnostic criteria for a mental health and/or addiction disorder. The most common disorders to be clinically diagnosed are anxiety, depression or substance abuse.¹⁶⁶ Some population groups are more at risk than others. The rate for mental health and/or addiction issues for Māori over a 12-month period is 30% compared to 21% in the general population. Maori are also more likely to have multiple and more serious conditions.¹⁶⁷ The rate of Pacific peoples who have a mental illness or addiction over a 12-month period is 25%, and they have higher levels of substance abuse and gambling-related harm than the general population. Of concern, suicide is the leading cause of death among young Pacific peoples (aged 12-18 years). Of those who were accessing mental health and addiction services in 2016/17, 45% were in employment, education, or training. The majority were not in employment or study. For those with mental health conditions, being outside of employment impacts on their long term well-being, and employment improves mental health outcomes. In 2018 Māori unemployment rates were at a nine-year low. However, the unemployment rate for Māori is double the national rate. More than half of the increase of Māori in employment since 2009 has been Māori aged 15-24 years.¹⁶⁸

Depression is the most studied mental health outcome related to job stress. In New Zealand a longitudinal study (the Dunedin Study) reported a two-fold elevated risk of incident (that is, first diagnosis) of combined major depressive disorder/generalised anxiety disorder amongst a birth cohort (n = 891) of 32 year-old workers who were exposed to high job demands.¹⁶⁹ Relative risks (RR) remained significant after adjustment for socio-demographics, negative affect and juvenile psychiatric disorders, with an RR of 1.90 for women and 2.00 for men. When simultaneously exposed to high job demands, low job control and low social support at work, there were significantly elevated RRs of 2.10 for women and 6.32 for men. This is one of the first studies to rule out a history of psychiatric disorder previous to entry into the labour market as an explanation of the work stress-depression link. The researchers tested whether the association between workplace stressors and mental disorders in adulthood might be attributable to having previous mental disorders in childhood, which in turn could influence the perception of work or selection into poor-quality work. It was found that, while this does happen to some extent, it was nonetheless demonstrated that job stressors are an independent source of preventable psychiatric diagnoses in midlife. This finding was also demonstrated by a 1958 British Birth Cohort Study.¹⁷⁰ Thus, there is compelling evidence for a causal link between work stressors and depression.

In New Zealand, it is currently acknowledged that the mental health workforce is ageing, there are employee shortages and high turnover and morale is low and workers are stressed.¹⁷¹ This presents as a significant issue for those seeking care with common mental health disorders.¹⁷² The OECD is appealing for policy responding to the challenges for labour market inclusion of people with mental illness. Specifically, it is recommended that there be a three-fold policy shift, which will give more attention to common mental disorders and also sub-threshold conditions, disorders concerning the employed as well as the unemployed and preventing instead of reacting to mental health problems.¹⁷³ Preventive workbased interventions can be achieved by ensuring good working conditions to avoid job strain, sound management practices and monitoring of sick leave and, where there are repeated absences, the provision of management support.

The implications of poor-quality work for mental health

It is known that being in poor-quality work is detrimental to mental health. Those with mental health disorders are more likely to be employed in jobs that do not match their skill set and/or are in low-skilled jobs such as service work, clerical work, sales and elementary occupations. These occupations are known to have high psychological demand with low decision latitude that when combined, lead to job strain and unhealthy levels of work-related stress, which in turn can aggravate pre-existing mental health conditions.¹⁷⁴ Preventing the deterioration of mental health can and should be an outcome of good management, where the manager supports the worker, provides feedback and gives recognition for work effort.¹⁷⁵ Workers with mental disorders are absent more often than other workers or alternatively do not take sick leave (presenteeism) but are more likely underperforming in their role.¹⁷⁶

Work and positive health outcomes

Mental health includes not just a focus on the absence of mental health disorders. It is also about flourishing and positive well-being. The occupational approach embraced in the United Kingdom is:

"...we start from the position that the correct way to view mental health is that we all have it and we fluctuate between thriving, struggling and being ill and possibly off work. People with poor mental health including common mental health problems and severe mental illness can be in any of these groups. An individual can have a serious mental health problem but with the right support – can still be thriving at work."¹⁷⁷

For many people, being employed and being at work is good for their mental health and well-being.¹⁷⁸ A recent systematic meta-review concluded that having a job is associated with a greater sense of autonomy, improved self-reported well-being, reduced depression and anxiety symptoms, increased ability to access resources to cope with demands, enhanced social status and unique opportunities for personal development and mental health promotion.¹⁷⁹ Work can improve the well-being of those who are employed, their families and their communities. For those who have experienced poor mental health, having and maintaining employment can be central to the recovery process through improved self-esteem, confidence and an enhanced sense of belonging.

Part 2 The development of standards and frameworks and international responses to psychosocial health risk management

In Europe there are numerous standards and frameworks that aim to address psychosocial hazards.

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Labour Office (ILO) have developed guidance on psychosocial hazards, work-related stress and psychological harassment.¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸⁶ In Europe, the range of responses to mitigate psychosocial hazards in the workplace encompass regulatory standards, legal regulations, and voluntary standards. This part catalogues international standards and outlines various frameworks that can potentially be applied in New Zealand.

In the early 2000s two European surveys were conducted to understand perceptions towards psychosocial issues: 1) the ISPESL to understand the perception of work-related stress in 12 EU candidate countries and 2) the Fourth European Survey of Working Conditions. Additionally, the PRIMA-EF Stakeholder Survey aimed to investigate the level of knowledge of health and safety legislation at the workplace with a particular focus on psychosocial risk factors and perceptions of different aspects of work organisation and work-related stress among stakeholders representing employers' associations, trade unions and government bodies. These surveys played an important part in identifying where effort should be focused and understanding the implementation climate for psychosocial interventions as well articulating the importance of a standardised terminology to aid the translation of research and policies.

A review of standards addressing psychosocial hazards

A review of the standards revealed divergence in terminology related to psychosocial hazards.¹⁸⁷ Different terms have been applied to represent the spectrum of psychosocial hazards and their associated mitigation approaches. Non-standardised lexicons can lead to confusion and misinterpretation. The Psychosocial Risk Management Excellence Framework (PRIMA-EF) is an attempt to address these inconsistencies and to provide a unified terminology for psychosocial risk management for all EU countries. The review of terminology for basic concepts is detailed in Table 4, criteria for psychosocial hazards can be found in Table 5, while Table 6 defines health and occupational outcomes associated with psychosocial risk factors. Table 7 summarises standards covering preventive actions mitigating psychosocial hazards, Table 8 covers assessment of psychosocial hazards and the measurement of stress and Table 9 describes administrative infrastructure involved in psychosocial hazard assessment and prevention.

TERM	SOURCE DOCUMENT
Psychosocial hazards	
"Interactions among job content, work organisation and management, and other environmental and organisational conditions, on the one hand, and employees' competencies and needs on the other. Psychosocial hazards are relevant to imbalances in the psychosocial arena and refer to those interactions that prove to have hazardous influences over employees' health through their perceptions and experience."	ILO, 1986 ¹⁸⁸
Mental stress	
"The total of all assessable influences impinging upon a human being from external sources and affecting it mentally" Mental stress is a source of mental strain (= "immediate effect of mental stress within the individual (not the long-term effect) depending on his/her habitual and actual preconditions, including individual coping styles.)"	ISO 10075:1991 ¹⁸⁹
"The total of all assessable influences impinging on a human being from external sources and affecting it mentally.	EN ISO 10075 ¹⁹⁰
This includes situational influences on mental stress:	
- task requirements (eg sustained concentration, responsibility for others)	
- physical conditions (eg lighting, noise)	
 social and organisational factors (eg control structure, communication structure, organisational environment) 	
- social factors, external to the organisation (eg economic situation)."	
Stress	
"Stress is a pattern of emotional, cognitive, behavioural and physiological reactions to adverse and noxious aspects of work content, work organisation and work environment. It is a state characterised by high levels of arousal and distress and often by feelings of not coping."	EU Guidelines ¹⁹¹
Mental strain	EN ISO 10075 ¹⁹²
"Mental strain is an immediate effect of mental stress. The impairing (short term) effects of mental strain are:	
- mental fatigue and 'fatigue like states' (ie monotony, reduced vigilance, and satiation)	
 sources of fatigue (ambiguity of task goals, complexity of task requirements, adequacy of information, ambiguity of information, signal discrimination)." 	
Violence	European Framework Agreement
"Violence at work occurs when one or more worker or manager are assaulted in circumstances relating to work."	on Harassment and Violence at Work, WHO, ILO, 2000 ¹⁹³
"Physical violence: The use of force against another person or group that results in physical, sexual or psychological harm."	Finnish Occupational Safety and Health Act ¹⁹⁴
Psychological violence: Intentional use of power against another person or group that can result in harm to physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development."	
"Violence – a long-term, recurring bullying, oppression, degradation or other negative behaviour designed to make another person feel defenceless. It can be aimed at one or several individuals."	Swedish Order on Victimization at Work ¹⁹⁵
Harassment	European Framework Agreement
"Harassment at work occurs when one or more worker or manager are repeatedly and deliberately abused, threatened and/or humiliated in circumstances relating to work".	on Harassment and Violence at Work ¹⁹⁶
"Repeated acts of harassment aiming at or resulting in a deterioration of the employee's rights and dignity, affect their physical health or compromise their professional future."	French Law number 2002-73 of 17 January 2002 and Labour Laws-Art L. 122-49 ¹⁹⁷
"Repeated abusive behaviour or any origin, external, or internal to the company or institution, particularly made evident by unilateral behaviour, speech, intimidation, actions, gestures and written communications aiming at worker's personality, dignity or physical or psychological integrity, in the course of their job or create an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment."	Belgian Law of 11 June 2002 ¹⁹⁸
"When a person methodically and over a long period of time is exposed to unpleasant and/or humiliating actions that are difficult to defend oneself against."	Danish Equal Treatment for Men and Women Act, 1977 ¹⁹⁹

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
"There are four main categories of sources of mental stress: task, equipment, physical environment, social environment"	ISO 10075:1991 ²⁰⁰
"Sources of fatigue: intensity of mental workload and temporal distribution of mental workload.	ISO 10075-2:1996 ²⁰¹ (Design principle)
 The intensity of mental workload is affected by the following characteristics: 1. Ambiguity of the task goals 2. Complexity of task requirements 3. Serving strategies 4. Adequacy of information 5. Ambiguity of information 6. Signal discriminability 7. Working memory load 8. Long-term memory load 9. Recognition vs recall memory 10. Decision support." 	
 "Factors of temporal distribution of mental workload: Duration of working hours Time off between successive work days or shift Time of day Shift work Breaks and rest pauses Changes in task activities with different task demands or kinds of mental workload." 	
"Stress at work can be caused by bad fit between worker and his/her work."	EU Guidelines, European Framework Agreement on work- related stress ²⁰²
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as match between workers skills and job requirements."	Directive 94/33/EC on the protection of young people at work ²⁰³
"Stress at work can be caused by conflict between roles at work and outside it."	 EU Guidelines²⁰⁴ Also: C 183 Maternity Protection Convention (ILO), 2000²⁰⁵ Directive 92/85/EC on pregnant workers, women who have given birth, or are breastfeeding²⁰⁶ Directive 96/34/EC on parental leave²⁰⁷
"Stress at work can be caused by not having a reasonable degree of control over one's own work and one's own life."	EU Guidelines ²⁰⁸
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as degree of autonomy."	European Framework Agreement on work-related stress ²⁰⁹
"Stress at work can be caused by over and underload." " a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as workload."	 EU Guidelines²¹⁰ European Framework Agreement on work-related stress²¹¹ Also: Directive 93/104/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time²¹² Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time²¹³ Directive 2002/15/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council 1 March 2002 on the organisation of working time of persons performing mobile road transport activities²¹⁴ C175 Part-time Work Convention (ILO), 1994²¹⁵ Directive 99/70/EC concerning the framework agreement on fixed term work concluded by the ETUC, UNICE and CEEP²¹⁶ Directive 97/81/EC concerning the framework agreement on

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as: working time arrangement."	 European Framework Agreement on work-related stress²¹⁸ Also: Directive 93/104/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time²¹⁹ Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time²²⁰ Directive 2002/25/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2002 on the organisation of working time of persons performing mobile road transport activities²²¹ C175 Part-time Work Convention (ILO), 1994²²² Directive 99/70/EC concerning the framework agreement on fixed-term work concluded by ETUC, UNICE and CEEP²²³ Directive 97/81/EC concerning the framework agreement on part-time working concluded by the ETUC, UNICE and CEEP²²⁴
"Stress at work can be caused by lack of clear job description, or chain of command."	EU Guidelines ²²⁵
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as uncertainty about what is expected at work."	European Framework Agreement on work-related stress ²²⁶
"Stress at work can be caused by inadequate time to complete our job to our own and others satisfaction."	EU Guidelines
"Stress at work can be caused by:no recognition, or reward, for good job performance."	EU Guidelines
"Stress at work can be caused by: no opportunity to voice complaints."	EU Guidelines ²²⁷ Also: - Directive 2002/14/EC establishing general framework for informing and consulting employees in the European Community ²²⁸
"Stress at work can be caused by many responsibilities, but little authority or decision-making capacity."	EU Guidelines ²²⁹
"Stress at work can be caused by uncooperative or unsupportive superiors, co-workers or subordinates." " a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as perceived lack of support."	EU Guidelines, European Framework Agreement on work-related stress ²³⁰
"Stress at work can be caused by no control, or pride over the finished product of work."	EU Guidelines ²³¹
"Stress at work can be caused by job insecurity, no permanence of position."	EU Guidelines ²³²
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as employment prospects, or forthcoming change."	European Framework Agreement on work-related stress ²³³
"Stress at work can be caused by exposure to prejudice regarding age."	 EU Guidelines Also: Directive 2004/43/EC and 2000/78EC prohibiting direct or indirect discrimination on grounds of racial or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation Directive 94/33/EC on the protection of young people at work²³⁴

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
"Stress at work can be caused by exposure to prejudice regarding gender."	 EU Guidelines²³⁵ Also: Directive 2004/43/EC and 2000/78EC²³⁶ prohibiting direct or indirect discrimination on grounds of racial or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age, or sexual orientation Directive 76/207/EEC²³⁷ and Directive 2002/73/EC²³⁸ on equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion and working conditions Directive 2006/54/EC²³⁹ on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation
"Stress at work can be caused by exposure to prejudice regarding race, ethnicity, religion."	 EU Guidelines²⁴⁰ Also: Directive 2004/43 EC and 2000/78 EC prohibiting direct or indirect discrimination on grounds of racial or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation²⁴¹
"Stress at work can be caused by exposure to violence, threats, or bullying."	EU Guidelines ²⁴²
 Sources of bullying "unreasonable deadlines unreasonable workloads remove work tasks within initial information withholding of information which makes it difficult to perform work tasks accusations about bad work performance excessive surveillance and control." 	Danish Equal Treatment for Men and Women Act 1977 ²⁴³
Sources of bullying "unilateral behaviour, speech, intimidation, actions, gestures and written communications aiming at worker's personality, dignity or physical or psychological integrity, in the course of their job." Sources of bullying "advanced behaviours aimed at harassing, persecuting, or discriminating a person and violate his/her dignity	Belgian Law of 11 June 2002 The German Employment Protection Act
and health." Sources of mobbing "any actions or behaviour directed towards an employee that aim at long lasting harassment or intimidation at an employee."	The Polish No.94, S 2 anti-bullying provision of Labour Code
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as emotional and social pressures."	European Framework Agreement on work-related stress ²⁴⁴
"Stress at work can be caused by unpleasant or hazardous physical work conditions."	EU Guidelines ²⁴⁵
" a problem of work-related stress can involve an analysis of factors such as: exposure to abusive behaviour, noise, heat, dangerous substances."	 European Framework on Work-Related Stress²⁴⁶ Also: Directive 89/391 on Health and Safety at Work²⁴⁷ Directive 89/654 on Workplaces²⁴⁸ Directive 89/655 on the use of work equipment by workers at work²⁴⁹ Directive 89/656 on the use of personal protective equipment²⁵⁰ Directive 90/269/EEC on the manual handling of loads²⁵¹ Directive 90/270/EEC on work with visual display equipment²⁵²
CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
--	------------------------------
"Stress at work can be caused by no opportunity to utilize personal talents or abilities effectively."	EU Guidelines ²⁵³
"Stress at work can be caused by chances of a small error or momentary lapse of attention having serious or even disastrous consequences."	EU Guidelines ²⁵⁴

Source²⁵⁵

TABLE 5: Standards covering exposure factors (standards that indicate what should be considered psychosocial hazards, sources of work stress or strain)

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
Mental stress	ISO 10075:1991 ²⁵⁶
"Impairing (short term) effects on mental stress are: mental fatigue, and 'fatigue-like states (ie monotony, reduced vigilance, satiation'."	
Mental fatigue	
"Temporary impairment of mental and physical functional efficiency, depending on the intensity, duration and temporal pattern of the preceding mental strain."	
Monotony	
"Slowly developing a state of reduced activation which may occur during long, uniform, repetitive tasks or activities, and which is mainly associated with drowsiness, tiredness, decrease and fluctuations in performance, reduction in adaptability and responsiveness, as well as an increase in variability of heart rate."	
Satiation	
"State of nervously unsettled, strongly emotional rejection of repetitive task or situation in which the experience is of 'marking time' or 'not getting anywhere', with additional symptoms of anger, decreased performance, and/or feelings of tiredness, and a tendency to withdraw."	
"High absenteeism or staff turnover, frequent interpersonal conflicts or complaints by workers are some of the signs that may indicate a problem of work-related stress."	European Framework Agreement on stress ²⁵⁷

Source²⁵⁸

TABLE 6: Standards identifying health and occupational outcomes of psychosocial risk factors and work stress/strain

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
Employers have 'a duty to ensure the safety and health of workers in every aspect related to work'. They have to develop 'a coherent overall prevention policy'.	EU Framework Directive 89 ²⁵⁹
Principles; "avoiding risks", "combating the risks at source", "adapting the work to the individual"	
"In formulating its national policy, each Member in consultation with the most representative organisations of employers and workers, shall promote basic principles such as assessing occupational risks or hazards; combating occupational risks or hazards at source; and developing a national preventive safety and health culture that includes information, consultation and training."	ILO Convention 187 (Convention concerning the promotional framework for occupational safety and health 2006) ²⁶⁰
"The principle of prevention is accorded the highest priority."	
"All employers have a legal obligation to protect the occupational safety and health of workers. This duty also applies to problems of work-related stress in so far as they entail a risk to health and society."	European Framework Agreement on work-related stress ²⁶¹ Also: - United Nations Treaty on Disability Rights, 2007 ²⁶² (promoting employment opportunities and career advancement for persons with disabilities)
"Employers should carry out an active policy to foster safety, health and well-being."	WCA (Dutch Works Councils Act) ²⁶³
"Employers policy to foster safety, health and well-being must be based on thorough written and regularly conducted inventory and assessment of all work-related risk, including psychosocial risk factors."	WCA (Dutch Works Councils Act) ²⁶⁴
"Employers should engage experts from OHSSs to assist in approving out - or carrying out - the risk inventory and assessment as well as the plan of action."	WCA (Dutch Works Councils Act) ²⁶⁵
"First step to prevent stress: to identify work-related stress, its causes and consequences by monitoring job content, working conditions, terms of employment, social relations at work, health, well-being and productivity."	EU Guidelines ²⁶⁶
"Recommend checklists and questionnaires can be used to identify work-related stress, its causes and consequences."	EU Guidelines ²⁶⁷
 "Action should be taken to improve stress-inducing conditions in the workplace - organisational change by: allowing adequate time for the worker to perform his or her work satisfactorily providing the worker with a clear job description rewarding the worker for good job performance providing ways for the worker to voice complaints and have them considered seriously and swiftly harmonizing the worker's responsibility and authority clarifying the work organisations goals and values and adapting them to the worker's own goals and values, where-ever possible promoting the worker's control, and pride, over the end product of his or her work promoting tolerance, security and justice at the workplace eliminating harmful physical exposure identifying failures, successes, and their causes and consequences in previous and future health action at the workplace." 	EU Guidelines ²⁶⁸
'Considering organisational improvements to prevent work-related stress and ill health, with regard to the following ('managerial standards')."	EU Guidelines ²⁶⁹

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
Work schedule "Design work schedules to avoid conflict with demands and responsibilities unrelated to the job. Schedules for rotating shifts should be stable and predictable, with rotation in a forward (morning, afternoon, night) direction." "Approaches to be considered include flexible work schedule."	 EU Guidelines²⁷⁰ Also: Directive 93/104 EC on working time²⁷¹ Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time²⁷² C175 Part-Time Work²⁷³ Convention ILO, 1994²⁷⁴ C 183 Maternity Protection Convention ILO, 2003²⁷⁵ Directive 92/85/EC on pregnant workers, women who have recently given birth, or are breast feeding²⁷⁶ Directive 96/34/EC on parental leave²⁷⁷
Participation/control "Allow workers to take part in decisions or actions affecting their jobs."	EU Guidelines ²⁷⁸ Also: - HSE (control) ²⁷⁹
"Approaches to be considered include participative management."	Directive 2002/14/EC establishing general framework for informing and consulting employees in the European Community ²⁸⁰
Workload "Ensure assignments are compatible and capabilities and resources of the worker, and allow for recovery from especially demanding physical or mental tasks."	 EU Guidelines²⁸¹ Also: HSE (demands)²⁸² Directive 93/104/EC on working time²⁸³ C175 Part-time Work²⁸⁴ Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of working time²⁸⁵ Directive 94/33/EC on the protection of young people at work²⁸⁶
Content "Design tasks to provide meaning, stimulation, a sense of completeness and opportunity to use skills."	EU Guidelines ²⁸⁷ Also: - WCA (Dutch) ²⁸⁸
Roles "Define work roles and responsibilities clearly."	EU Guidelines ²⁸⁹ Also: - HSE (role) ²⁹⁰
Social environment "Provide opportunities for social interaction, including emotional and social support and help between fellow workers."	EU Guidelines ²⁹¹ Also: - HSE (support) ²⁹²
Future "Avoid ambiguity in matters of job security and career development, promote life-long learning and employability."	EU Guidelines ²⁹³ Also: - Directive 99/70/EC concerning the framework agreement on fixed-term work concluded by ETUC, UNICE and CEEP ²⁹⁴

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
Relationships	HSE (relationship) ²⁹⁵
"Employees indicate that they are not subjected to unacceptable behaviours (eg bullying at work)."	 Also: Resolution on Harassment at the workplace 2001/2339²⁹⁶ International Code to Prevent Mobbing at Workplace Swedish Order on Victimization at Work, 1993²⁹⁷ French Modernization of Employment Act/2002²⁹⁸ Belgian Welfare at Work Act, 1996²⁹⁹ English Protection from Harassment Act/1997³⁰⁰
Change	HSE (change) ³⁰¹
"Employees indicate that the organisation engages them frequently when undergoing an organisational change."	Also: - Directive 2002/14/EC ³⁰²
"Workplace, working methods, tools, machines are in accordance with personal characteristics of the employees."	Establishing general framework for informing and consulting employees in the European Community ³⁰³
 "Requested steps of intervention: 1st step: identify the incidence, prevalence, severity and trends of work-related stressor exposures and their causes and health consequences 2nd step: characteristics of exposures as reflected in the content, organisations of work are analysed in relation to the outcomes found 3rd step: the stakeholders design an integrated package of interventions, and implement it 4th step: the short-and long-term outcomes of interventions need to be evaluated, in terms of (a) stressor exposures, (b) stress reactions, (c)incidence, (d) indicators of well-being, (e) productivity, (f) costs and benefits in economic terms." 	EU Guidelines ³⁰⁴
"The aim of the standard is not to reduce mental workload (or stress to the minimum possible but to optimize it"; "What is really required is to avoid any kind of dysfunctional mental workload, and to provide for optimal mental workload which will avoid impairing effects and promote facilitating effects and the personal development of the worker."	ISO 10075:1991 ³⁰⁵
 "The specific design guidelines to optimize mental workload should take into account: <i>Effects</i> they are intended to influence (ie fatigue, monotony, vigilance, satiation) the <i>level of design</i> (task, equipment, environment, organisation) <i>quality and intensity</i> of mental workload <i>temporal organisation of work</i> (eg duration of working hours, time off between successive shifts, shift work, breaks and rest pauses, as well as changes in task activities)." 	ISO 10075:1991 ³⁰⁶
"Raising awareness and appropriate training of managers and workers can reduce the likelihood of harassment and violence at work.	European Framework Agreement on Harassment
 A suitable procedure will be underpinned by but not confined to the following: it is in the interest of all parties to proceed with the necessary discretion to protect the dignity and privacy of all no information should be disclosed to parties not involved in the case complaints should be investigated and dealt with without undue delay all parties involved should get an impartial hearing and fair treatment complaints should be backed up by detailed information false accusations should not be tolerated and may result in disciplinary action external assistance may help." 	and Violence at Work ³⁰⁷

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
'If it is established that harassment and violence occurred, appropriate measures will be taken in relation to the perpetrator(s). This may include disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. The victim(s) will receive support and, if necessary, help with reintegration.	Swedish Work Environment Act ³⁰⁸
'Employers, in consultation with workers and/or their representatives, will establish, review and monitor these procedures to ensure that they are effective both in preventing problems and dealing with issues as they arise."	
 "The employer must adopt an explicit policy against victimization He must provide for an early detection of signs of and the rectification of 'such unsatisfactory working conditions, problems of work organisation or deficiencies of cooperation' as can provide a basis for victimization He must take counter-measures if signs of victimization become apparent He must provide support to the victim, and have specific procedures for that He must provide to the management the training related to victimization at work, its causes, prevention and legislation issues He must engage all workers in improving working conditions in order to prevent victimization at work the physical organisation of the working environment aimed at preventing violence quick and impartial investigation of cases of workplace violence listening to and assisting victims establishing proper assistance and support for the victim, the availability of an advisor on prevention and a complaint resolution officer supporting and helping victims to return to work line management's obligations to prevent the situation envisaged 	Belgian Law of 11 July 2002 ³⁰⁹

TABLE 7: Standards covering preventive actions mitigating psychosocial risk factors and sources of work stress

CONTENT OF THE STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
"It was decided not to standardise individual methods or instruments of mental workload but to prepare a standard on requirements for such methods or instruments."	ISO 10075:1991 ³¹⁰
"A choice of the most appropriate measurement instruments/procedures in a given situation must take into account:	
 the intended domain of measurement (assessing mental stress or mental strain or effects of mental strain) 	
- the quality of measurement (categorised into three levels: orienting level, screening level, precision measurements	
 measurement technique (ranging from job and task analysis through performance assessment and subjective scaling techniques to psycho-physiological measurements)." 	
"Measurement quality is defined via psychometric criteria: objectivity, reliability, validity, sensitivity, diagnosticity (<i>definitions for the above terms are given in the norm</i>)."	ISO 10075:1991 ³¹¹

TABLE 8: Standards covering psychosocial risk assessment and the measurement of stress, and its causes and consequences

CONTENT OF STANDARD	SOURCE DOCUMENT
"Systems are in place locally to respond to any individual concerns related to the Management of Standards."	HSE (Management standards) ³¹²
"Recommended low-cost approach to reduce noxious work-related stress: internal control (= self- regulatory process carried out with close collaboration between stakeholders: in-house occupational health service, labour inspector, occupational or public health nurse, a social worker, a physiotherapist, personnel administrator)."	EU Guidelines ³¹³
"Independent commercial enterprises Occupational Health and Safety Services (OHSS) play a central role in psychosocial risk assessment and prevention. They sell services to companies."	WCA (Dutch Works Council Act) ³¹⁴
"OHSS must be certified." "Each OHSS must employ at least one certificated professional from each of the following four fields: 1. occupational medicine 2. occupational safety 3. occupational hygiene 4. work and organisation."	WCA (Dutch Works Council Act) ³¹⁵
 "The W & O expert's job is to advise management on policy issues to improve work organisation. His (sic) four key tasks are: 1. organisational advice and recommendation of measures 2. psychosocial risk assessment 3. implementation of organisation-based measures to reduce job stress and sickness absence rates 4. co-ordination and integration of measures – acting as a liaison between the company and the OHSS team." 	WCA (Dutch Works Council Act) ³¹⁶
"Employer must have a prevention adviser with skills in the psychological aspects of work and violence at work, psychological harassment and sexual harassment on the staff of his (sic) company prevention service. There must be a prevention advisor on the external prevention service used. This person must not be an occupational health doctor. All firms of every size therefore must have a specialised prevention adviser. Employers can also appoint one or more complaint resolution officers to act as a "first line" player to listen to what victims have to say and attempt an informal reconciliation. A range of procedures are available. Victims may take their complaints through company internal procedures via the complaint resolution officer or specialised prevention adviser. Or they can complain to the labour ministry's medical inspectorate either because company procedures have not worked or because the victim lacks confidence in them. If mediation does not work, redress can be sought through the courts by the victim personally."	Belgian Law of 11 July 2002 ³¹⁷

TABLE 9: Standards describing administrative infrastructure involved in psychosocial risks assessment and prevention

Part 3 Research-informed action, indicator development and risk management

IN THIS SECTION:

- **3.1** Addressing different levels of interventions with a focus on the source
- 3.2 Psychosocial risk management
- **3.3** Psychosocial risk management process and models at the level of the enterprise
- 3.4 Psychosocial risk assessment
- **3.5** Macro level work-related psychosocial risk management
- 3.6 Psychosocial intervention effectiveness
- 3.7 Successful risk intervention
- 3.8 The way forward

Policy and practical applications - research informed action

Internationally, there is a degree of consensus about the nature and adverse consequences of psychosocial hazards, and while new forms of work will give rise to new psychosocial hazards, there is sufficient evidence available to develop policy frameworks and inform workplace interventions. To this end, a considerable amount of work has been undertaken in Europe, and there are frameworks and models that can be adopted to assess the risks associated with psychosocial hazards, the severity of their health impacts and the associations between psychosocial hazards and the healthiness of organisations (ie high employee turnover, productivity, absenteeism etc).

Of interest to WorkSafe is a European-derived framework developed to assist in the management of psychosocial hazards at both the organisational and societal levels. The European Framework for Psychosocial Risk Management considers all major psychosocial risk management approaches across Europe and is informed by a theoretical analysis of the risk management process and an analysis of typical risk management approaches in the EU.³¹⁸ Importantly, this framework was developed to inform intervention to reduce harm caused by psychosocial hazards and was developed to assist in the promotion of mental health and safety at work and beyond it.

Key concepts and a review of models

The European Framework for Psychosocial Risk Management identified a number of key concepts through a review of models and psychosocial hazard mitigation across the European Union:

CONCEPT 1

Good psychosocial risk management is good business

Good business is best practice in terms of organisational management, learning and development, social responsibility and the promotion of quality working life and good work.³¹⁹

CONCEPT 2

Evidence-based practice

Managing risk in health and safety involves a systematic, evidence-based approach characterised by the provision of quality information affording the development of practical strategies to solve problems:

- identify the problem
- employ evidence to suggest ways to reduce risk
- evaluate risk management actions
- evaluation informs the whole process, informs reassessment of the original problem and informs organisational knowledge.³²⁰

Dealing with psychosocial hazards is complex, but it does not have to be exhaustive. It is not necessary to have a precisely measured account of all hazards and all health outcomes for all individuals. Not only is this not possible, but attempting this would likely lead to no action. The EU framework instead focuses on providing a reasoned account of the most important work organisation factors associated with ill health.³²¹ It is, however, most important that risk management of a hazard involves adequate analysis in the context of the workplace, and involves an informed assessment of the risk that the hazard presents. Ultimately, the end goal is to ensure that inventions are not simply addressing symptoms rather than causes, and that they don't avoid action on the basis of assumption of causes with a consequential waste of resources.

CONCEPT 3

Ownership

The management of psychosocial hazards is connected to how work activities are organised and carried out. The key people involved are managers and the workers performing the work – both must own the risk management process. Outsourcing to external human resources companies is not recommended. Managers must be aware of the link between good worker health and good business and the benefits of addressing psychosocial hazards in their business cases.

CONCEPT 4

Contextualisation and tailoring interventions

A good understanding of workplace context is necessary to effectively design risk management strategies, and 'tailoring' the intervention to the workplace is paramount. Tailoring involves knowing what the process will cover (hazards, target and data collection), who to involve in the process (people and agencies), what the process itself involves (risk assessment, goal setting and planning, implementation, monitoring, evaluation, etc) and who will review the process. Tailoring can assist in identifying the best mitigation tools to use in a workplace and the issues that must be addressed before action is decided on. For example, when tailoring, consideration must be given to a number of factors, including the size of the business and the availability of resources, particularly in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), the nature of the workforce (demographics and established workplace and labour market inequalities), the occupational sector and the wider socio-political backdrop.

Tailoring enables policy aims to be matched to the management of psychosocial hazards. The application of this method needs to be carried out by those who are competent to do so, and the competency of the user (whether worker/manager/employer) also needs to be taken into account.

CONCEPT 5

Participative approach and social dialogue

Involving all parties in the development of hazard mitigation interventions assists the effectiveness of change and reduces barriers to change. Those within the organisation have the expert knowledge of their work environment and inclusion fosters access to this knowledge. Good risk management models include recognition of the importance of worker participation. Evidence suggests that the reduction of psychosocial hazards at the source involves implementing good management practices and/or organisational development activities. Change needs to be owned by both workers and managers alike. Eliminating psychosocial hazards is facilitated by good business practices involving transparent and effective communication.

Meaningful participation of the employees that are targeted by the intervention is very important in work-related stress intervention primarily because it is integral to the prevention and control of work-related stress itself. To participate is an enactment of job control, demonstrates organisational fairness and justice and builds mutual support for all involved. There is a large body of evidence in the public health literature indicating that participation is essential for a range of reasons, including facilitating the tailoring of the intervention to the workplace context and allowing employees to share contextualised expertise. Risk assessment or needs assessment is another means by which to tailor the intervention to the context and likewise relies on a participative approach.

CONCEPT 6

Multi-causality and identification of key factors

Psychosocial hazards are multi-factorial, typically involving factors such as work organisation, work processes, workplace, work-life balance, team and organisational culture, and societal arrangements (occupational health support services and/or social security). Multi-causality requires in-depth analyses to identify key risk factors. There are no short-cuts to effective mitigation, and instead a continuous management process is usually required to monitor the dynamics of psychosocial hazards in the workplace.

CONCEPT 7

Solutions that are fit for purpose

Scientific evidence should inform the psychosocial risk management process. In the absence of a research record it is important to make the issues and barriers to risk management the starting point for development, and from this formulate solutions that are then fit for purpose.

CONCEPT 8

Ethics

Accepting that protecting workers from psychosocial hazards is not simply a legal obligation but also an ethical obligation.

3.1 Addressing different levels of interventions with a focus on the source

In the European Union the focus is on primary risk prevention targeted at the organisation, which is seen as the generator of psychosocial hazards. Actions may also be targeted at the individual level depending on the magnitude or severity of the problem. Prevention can be stratified thus:

Primary prevention

The focus is on the organisation as the source of risk and emphasises the need to identify causes and practices within the organisation that are in need of change. Primary prevention also promotes organisational healthiness through addressing key aspects of organisation culture and development. Interventions of this nature stress the importance of taking a participatory approach, tailoring the intervention to different contexts, and addressing risk systemically.

Secondary prevention

Interventions designed to address psychosocial risks have tended to be focused on individuals. Interventions of this nature have been found to be effective in reducing stress temporarily. These interventions emphasize the improvement of worker perceptions to risk mitigation and the direct management of psychosocial hazards for groups are at high risk of exposure. Secondary preventions usually involve education, the provision of more training and knowledge, and the provision of tools to workers for managing risk, for example, relaxation techniques, reporting bullying, handling conflict, interpersonal relationships, and improved communication.

Tertiary prevention

This is when action is taken after an employee or group of employees have been harmed by exposure to psychosocial hazards and addresses the consequences of this exposure, both physical and psychological. For example, those who are suffering from burn out, depression or strain are provided counselling and/or therapy. If the worker has been off work, tertiary prevention would also involve assisting the worker in their return to work through rehabilitation programmes that enable effective reintegration into the workforce.

Psychosocial hazard management links to international policy agendas

The World Health Organization's (WHO) global plan of action on workers' health aims to protect and promote health in the workplace through employing integrated measures to manage psychosocial hazards, the adoption of clear occupational health standards to introduce healthy work practices and the assessment and management of occupational risks.³²² This plan addresses all aspects of workers' health and includes primary prevention of occupational hazards, the protection and promotion of health at work, safer employment conditions and the need for a better response from health systems to worker health. In New Zealand, this would involve collaborations between WorkSafe, Ministry for Business Innovation and Enterprise, Health Promotion Agency and the Ministry of Health, and addressing the gaps in the occupational health workforce so systemic change is possible. The global action plan developed by WHO is underpinned by five objectives:

Objective 1: Devise and implement policy instruments on workers' health.

Objective 2: Protect and promote health at the workplace.

Objective 3: Improve the performance of, and access to, occupational health services.

Objective 4: Provide and communicate evidence for action and practice.

Objective 5: Incorporate workers' health into other policies.

In Europe there have been a number of 'soft policy' initiatives targeting psychosocial hazards in the workplace,³²³ including:

- i. The Lisbon Strategy: EU goal for economic growth and competitiveness
- ii. Community Strategy on Health and Safety at Work, 2007-2012
- iii. Commission White Paper 'Together for Health'
- iv. Framework Agreement on Work-Related Stress
- v. Framework Agreement on Harassment and Violence at Work
- vi. Mental Health Pact.

A review of hard and soft policies (94 in total) revealed a number of differences between binding versus non-binding policies. Non-binding/voluntary policy initiatives made more explicit reference to mental health and psychosocial hazards in the workplace in their stated objectives and scope, covered exposure factors and typically addressed aspects of risk assessment and preventive actions in more detail than binding/regulatory policies.

There has, however, been little if no evaluation of the effectiveness of these policies in supporting existing legislation and binding requirements.

It has also been acknowledged that initiatives aiming to promote workers' health have not had the impact expected and that this is an outcome of the gap that exists between policy and practice.³²⁴

Some of the barriers in the development and implementation of policy level interventions experienced in the European Union include:

- lack of government support for macro initiatives
- conflict between government departments with different responsibilities, leading to un-coordinated activities or diffusion of responsibility
- lack of both awareness and prioritisation of psychosocial hazard management
- absence of clear guidance on how to establish if work-related stress is a problem and then, once identified, how to address it
- differences in opinion between the key stakeholders at the macro level is a key policy challenge

- the need for a clear communication structure between Ministries of Labour and Health
- the need for evaluation of policy initiatives
- implementation is not given enough time alongside poor support of employers and employees
- the fluid nature of work and worker characteristics challenges psychosocial risk management
- lack of enforcing mechanisms
- non-binding agreements
- lack of sanctions relating to voluntary agreements
- inherent power differences at all levels from macro to enterprise (eg employers happy with tertiary interventions are more resistance to primary interventions)
- little consensus over source, that is, individual vs home life vs workplace.

Main drivers and success factors experienced in the European Union include:

- increased awareness of psychosocial issues in organisations and society
- the undeniable evidence of losses and harm caused by poor management of psychosocial hazards
- campaigns focusing on violence, bullying and harassment, that address the ethical and societal implications
- importance of recognition in the legal context-regulations encourage and increase discussion at the organisational level
- consultation with social partners and social dialogue
- research commitment and contribution a key driver but dissemination of findings needs to be improved
- involvement of workers in developing interventions and long-term commitment from key stakeholders are central to successful implementation.

The authors of the Psychosocial Risk Management Excellence Framework (PRIMA-EF)³²⁵ made a number of recommendations for future action. Firstly, that the EU legislation be made clearer by either including specific terminology and harmonising it across other key pieces of legislation or by the development of a clear interpretation of the legal provisions in this area by the European Council. The authors also recommended that better coordination at the European Union institutional level was necessary in order to address unnecessary competition and non-cost-effective efforts. Finally, they recommended continuing with soft policy initiatives as they strengthen employer awareness and engagement with preventive actions.³²⁶

The PRIMA-EF project provided a framework for policy and practice at national and enterprise level within the European Union. It has more recently been articulated in the World Health Organization's Healthy Workplaces Framework (2010). The framework in summary identifies seven key features in relation to the design, content and implementation of workplace interventions.³²⁷

- 1. Workplace interventions need to be developed with a full understanding of theory and evidence-based practice.
- 2. A systematic and step-wise approach needs to be utilised with development of clear aims, goals, tasks and intervention planning.
- 3. A proper risk assessment needs to be carried out with the aim of identifying risk factors and groups of workers with potentially high exposure.
- The interventions need to be tailored to suit a given industrial sector, occupation or workplace size but also remain flexible and adaptable for implementation in a specific workplace.

- The most effective interventions are those which are accessible and userfriendly in their format, process and acceptable to individuals at all levels of an organisation (from lowest status workers to highest level managers).
- 6. A systematic approach was highlighted as the most effective with components of the intervention aimed at both the individual and the organisation.
- 7. Intervention programmes that facilitate competency building and skill development are important, they build leadership and management skills at the organisational level.

Australian policy context and the New Zealand situation

Closer to New Zealand, the Australian legislation is guided by a cluster of work, health and safety (WHS) laws³²⁸ that have been subsequently critiqued for their lack of explicit and well-defined conceptualisations of mental health and psychosocial hazards in the workplace. Safe Work Australia has acknowledged that the concept of mental health is not defined in their health and safety legislation and as such presents challenges for the implementation of compliance activities, identifying breaches and the ability to enforce.

In Australia, each state or territory has jurisdiction over WHS, with each jurisdiction having legally binding regulatory instruments that identify the legal obligations of employers to protect the health and safety of employees at work. Both physical health and psychological well-being are addressed at this top-level policy layer. In addition, there are a range of soft policies that focus on greater specificity around psychosocial hazards and the duties and obligations towards physical health and psychological well-being.³²⁹ Efforts are being made to reform and standardise the WHS regulatory framework across Australia, a process referred to as harmonisation (as it was in Europe) and where the goal is to standardise policies and reduce major differences across jurisdictions so that workers will not be disadvantaged nor privileged due to their state of residence. More recently, in January 2019 Safe Work Australia has produced national guidance material on work-related psychological health and safety which outlines a systematic approach to managing work-related psychological health and safety.³³⁰

The need for harmonisation is not an issue in New Zealand as we are not a federation. Of interest, however, is research undertaken between 2003 and 2007 in Australia that focused on workplace regulation and that sought to understand how inspectors respond to psychosocial hazards. The study showed that the general duty provisions of the legislation focused on bullying, harassment and stress, and that it was likely that other psychosocial hazards would be overlooked.³³¹ In addition, inspectors had issues with the resolution of psychosocial claims due to their complex nature, the need for more resources was also highlighted. Importantly, inspectors struggled to enforce prosecution because the law was inadequate in this area. This inadequacy also impacted inspectors' confidence in enforcing much-needed action in workplaces. In Australia 'a key issue is determining how to apply the general obligations in the laws for health and safety at work to psychosocial risks, in the absence of specific regulations'.³³² This is also arguably the case in New Zealand.

Since 2004 in Australia, there has been a prioritisation of psychological hazard mitigation in the workplace alongside attempts to raise awareness of their adverse consequences. It is now one of the key targets of the national Australian Work Health and Safety Strategy 2012-2022.³³³

A review of policy documents and a gap analysis was conducted in Australia employing the same methodology deployed in the European policy reviews.³³⁴ Thirty-nine documents, three Acts and three Regulations were identified. The researchers found that regulatory policy documents were less detailed than non-regulatory policy documents when considering psychological health, psychosocial hazards and risks. It was suggested that regulatory policy could be strengthened by incorporating psychosocial risk management principles to improve health and well-being outcomes for Australian workers. The researchers also identified the need to evaluate the effectiveness of these policies in light of their stated objectives.

3.2 Psychosocial risk management

In the European Union, there are minimum standards for psychosocial hazard management that must be met, irrespective of workplace contexts. Pertinently, the European Union framework identifies a range of necessary capabilities for psychosocial risk management, including:

- adequate knowledge of the key agents (management and workers, policy makers)
- relevant and reliable information to support decision-making
- availability of effective and user-friendly methods and tools
- availability of competent supportive structures (experts, services and institutions, research and development).

Where only minor capability exists, successful psychosocial risk management will be limited as there is likely to be limited awareness and assessment of psychosocial risks and inadequate inspection of company practices in relation to psychosocial exposures.

Effective psychosocial risk management is also impacted by the role of cultural aspects such as risk sensitivity and risk tolerance at both the organisational and societal levels. WorkSafe's Health, Safety, Attitudes and Behaviour Survey results suggest that the tolerance of hazards is a prominent issue in some industries (eg construction and agriculture) in New Zealand.

3.3 Psychosocial risk management process and models at the level of the enterprise

There is a vast literature addressing risk management in health and safety. Initially, the risk management approach was developed to address physical hazards. However, many of these interventions are applicable to the psychosocial hazards context (see Figure 8).



Source³³⁵

FIGURE 8: The framework model for the management of psychosocial risks at the enterprise level

There are a range of risk management models, many of which draw on the Deming Cycle consisting of four steps: plan, do, check and act. These steps involve the following:

- i. A declared focus on a defined work population, workplace, set of operations or particular type of equipment.
- ii. An assessment of risks to understand the nature of the problem and their underlying causes.
- iii. The design and implementation of actions designed to remove or reduce those risks (solutions).
- iv. The evaluation of those actions
- v. The active and careful management of the process.³³⁶

Risk management of psychosocial hazards needs to be ongoing and part of the good management of work and the effective management of health and safety. Ideally, it should be conducted annually.

3.4 Psychosocial risk assessment

Risk assessment is defined by the European Commission as 'a systematic examination of the work undertaken to consider what could cause injury or harm, whether the hazards could be eliminated, and if not what preventive or protective measures are, or should be, in place to control the risks'³³⁷ A comprehensive risk assessment will identify the indicators, consequences and underlying causes of psychosocial hazards.

The risk assessment provides information on:338

- the nature and severity of the problem
- the identity of the psychosocial hazards, the health implications and who is exposed
- the healthiness of the organisation, using indicators such as absenteeism, worker satisfaction, intention to leave, productivity, high employee turnover (ie harassment complaints, bullying complaints, incidence of violence, burnout should be regarded as a consequence of a poor psychosocial work environment and leadership styles)
- the challenges and positive aspects of the work environment
- identifies potential hazardous situations and assessment of risks to individuals
- effective approaches to risk reduction.

The risk assessment process:

- Establishes a baseline (survey, or qualitative methods for smaller enterprises).
- Documents diversity issues and the wider context (ie sector, socioeconomic issues, system issues).
- Utilises worker judgement on the adequacy of the design and management of their work (consensus level) and treats this as valuable evidence.
- Prioritises risk factors in terms of the nature of the hazard or the harm it causes or the size of the group affected.
- Includes an audit (review, analysis, critical evaluation) to identify what measures are already in place to deal with psychosocial hazards and their effects on the individual or organisation and what support is provided to employees if they are affected. Here, the risks that have not been managed should become evident.
- Develops an action plan to decide on what is being targeted, how and by whom, sets a timeframe, identify resource need, selects the health outcomes and determines how the implementation of this action plan will be evaluated.
- Plans thoroughly.

- Sets priorities Changing the work environment is the main preventive strategy for managing psychosocial hazards and ensuring there are clear organisational structure and practices, appropriate selection of employees and provision of training and employee development opportunities. Priority should be given to collective and organisational interventions so risks are tackled at source and worker measures can provide support to those who are exposed and at risk – interventions at both levels are important.
- Results in low-risk implementation of the action plan. The implementation must be managed and monitored and an evaluation plan needs to be made. The action plan is more likely to succeed if there is genuine participatory engagement between managers and workers.
- Evaluates (both process and outcome) of the risk management process.
 Evaluation informs the organisation how well something has worked and allows for reassessment and organisational learning, and this should inform the next cycle of the psychosocial risk management process.
- Promotes psychosocial risk management as good business.

3.5 Macro level work-related psychosocial risk management

The key principles and philosophy are the same as the risk policy process compared to the risk management process at the company level.³³⁹

Risk and psychosocial hazard monitoring

At the macro level this involves the systematic examination of the work conditions that cause injury or harm, whether workplace hazards can be eliminated and what protective and preventive measures are (or should be) in place to control the risks. What are the psychosocial hazards? Who is exposed to them and who is affected by them? Of note, psychosocial exposure data has been requested by WorkSafe and the results will be available in March 2019.

Policy audits

What policies are already in place to deal with psychosocial hazards, their effects on organisations and the working population? Policy audits (review, analysis and critical evaluation) should focus on existing policy practices and social partners. The development of a policy plan should be guided by risk monitoring data.

Develop a policy plan

This should draw on evidence of macro level problems and translate the risk monitoring data to formulate effective interventions. The plan should detail:

- who will be involved
- what resources are required
- how success will be measured
- how will the Plan be evaluated
- macro contextual factors that should be considered (eg industrial relations, changes in economic prospects (job insecurity, levels of unemployment) and political factors (level of regulation, union representation)).

Set clear aims and target groups

Ensure the participation of social partners and relevant stakeholders. Consider societal level factors which influence psychosocial risk management, for example, national capability, costs and expected economic benefits, feasibility of the measures or interventions (sufficient support from social partners, businesses and the general public) and anticipated future changes in the national economy.

Implement the policy plan

The implementation needs to be systematically monitored and reviewed so corrective action can be taken when necessary. The policy plan is likely to be realised and risk reduction achieved if there is ownership and involvement of partners and key stakeholders.

Evaluation

Both the **process** of implementation and the **outcomes** of the policy plan should be evaluated. Evaluation should be carried out periodically. The evaluation should explicitly identify and communicate what has worked well and what has worked less well.

Learn

Evaluation should be used as a vehicle for continuous improvement and inform the next cycle of the psychosocial risk management policy process.



FIGURE 9: Framework model for policies regarding the management of psychosocial risks

3.6 Psychosocial intervention effectiveness

La Montagne et al (2007a) conducted a systematic review of 90 intervention evaluation studies focusing on interventions where organisations set out to address job stress proactively.³⁴⁰ Organisations were classified as high systems if they employed primary, secondary and tertiary preventions, moderate systems if they only applied primary presentation approaches, or low systems where those characterised by the absence of primary prevention.

The review made four main conclusions:

- 1. Studies of interventions using high systems approaches represent a growing proportion of the work stress intervention evaluation literature, possibly reflecting the increasing application of such approaches in practice internationally.
- 2. Individually focused, low systems approaches are effective at the individual level, favourably affecting a range of individual level outcomes (coping, time management skill development).
- 3. Individually focused, low systems approach work stress interventions tend not to have favourable impacts at the organisational level (reducing exposures, sickness absence).
- 4. Organisationally focused high and moderate systems approaches (addressing working conditions) work stress interventions have favourable impacts at both individual and organisational levels.

Egan et al (2007) conducted a systematic review of organisational level interventions implemented to increase job control and found some evidence of health benefits (eg in anxiety and depression). Specifically, an inverse relationship between employee control and work demands or a proportional relationship between employee control and support were shown to be associated with health benefits. The review also found strong evidence of an association between downsizing or restructuring and poorer employee health.³⁴¹ Another systematic review found that interventions increasing employee control improved health.³⁴² Further reviews established that organisational level changes to improve psychosocial working conditions can have beneficial effects on health.³⁴³ Taken together, these studies suggest that organisational interventions on the psychosocial work environment have the potential to reduce societal level health inequalities for the working population. Pertinently, systems (or comprehensive) approaches to work stress are more effective than other approaches and benefit both individuals (better health) and organisations (reduced absenteeism).

There are a number of longitudinal studies providing evidential support of a causal relationship between work stressors and health, in particular, the health effects of sustained poor or deteriorating working conditions. For example, a Dutch longitudinal study focusing on job strain and mental health over four time points that one were year apart, found that only changing from low to high job strain was associated with an increase in depressive symptoms.³⁴⁴ The Whitehall II study demonstrated that adverse changes in job demands and job control led to higher risks of psychiatric disorders, but improvements in demands and control had no effect.³⁴⁵ Wang et al's (2009)³⁴⁶ Canadian research examined job strain in relation to the risk of major depression and found elevated risks for those in high strain jobs. They also reported higher risks for those moving from low to high strain jobs, even after statistical adjustments for age, education, previous history of depression, perceived health status and childhood trauma.

Across the broad range of occupational literature there is strong evidence supporting the worth of national and international initiatives that address upstream determinants of job stress (eg reduction of psychosocial hazards in the workplace). Specifically, such initiatives not only have a positive impact on worker health, but they also have positive effects on productivity.

3.7 Successful risk intervention

There have been very few evaluations of interventions addressing bullying and work-related violence. A review of administrative and behavioural interventions for workplace violence identified 137 papers, 41 of which focused on interventions, of which only nine reported evaluation results.³⁴⁷ Generally, the review noted that the research designs were weak and the results inconclusive. There were no experimental designs, particularly randomised control trials.

Violence interventions ultimately seek to reduce the number of bullying cases, negative and inappropriate behaviours and violent incidents against employees. The application of surveillance equipment has contributed to a decline in third-party violence and also improved workers' sense of security, job satisfaction and well-being.³⁴⁸ There is evidence that training has also led to positive outcomes.³⁴⁹ Rehabilitation interventions have also had positive results³⁵⁰ for example, one trauma care programme significantly decreased the number of violent incidents and reduced sick leave by 30-50%.³⁵¹ Some success has been had with the therapeutic treatment of people who had been bullied and results from counselling and rehabilitation of workers who have been subjected to violence. Greater awareness and training on bullying also helps increase reporting and the possibility of redress.

Research has identified the importance of raising awareness of psychosocial issues and the role that education plays in successful interventions. There is also a need to address capacity and competency within organisations and within their management. At the macro level policy makers should be included. A range of other issues impacting intervention efficacy have been noted:

- The importance of establishing the business case for addressing psychosocial risk management and linking this to responsible business practices promoting the social well-being and health of employees.
- The importance of adopting a comprehensive approach to the management of psychosocial risk and the importance of robust evaluation of interventions.
- Ensuring the tertiary education sector provides psychosocial risk management courses at post-graduate level.
- There is no quick fix psychosocial risk management must be continuous.

Examples of best practice: interventions targeting workplace bullying³⁵²

European Union research³⁵³ has identified priorities for action against workplace bullying, as articulated in Table 10.

BULLYING³⁵⁴

- Disseminating more information about bullying to all stakeholders.
- Development of legal regulations (in some countries).
- Anti-bullying policies and codes of conduct including clear and operable procedures to prevent and deal with bullying should be built in organisations.
- Evaluation of the effectiveness of different approaches and strategies used to prevent and tackle bullying at work (like policies, training, psychosocial work environment redesign, mediation).
- Offering practical measures for small companies to deal with bullying.
- Workable methods to stop the escalating process of bullying in the workplace should be developed and implemented.
- Development and evaluation of risk assessment tools for bullying at work.
- Development of methods to intervene in horizontal bullying (co-worker bullying) and in downwards bullying (bullying by supervisor/manager.

TABLE 10:

Priorities for action against workplace bullying and violence A range of challenges and barriers have been identified for workplace bullying and violence interventions³⁵⁵ as described in Table 11.

OVERALL CHALLENGES AND BARRIERS

 Bullying and violence are sensitive issues for organisations and individuals involved.
 Stronger professional focus is needed in the prevention of bullying and violence – attention should be paid to the competency of trainers and consultants involved in bullying and violence training and other activities.

BULLYING

- The level of evidence-based knowledge and know-how on bullying is still low in many organisations and among social partners.
- Bullying at work is by nature a subjective and intangible phenomenon that makes it difficult to acknowledge.
- When awareness and recognition of bullying is not sufficient in the workplace, resistance may appear to implement interventions that fit the readiness of the organisation and employees.
- Bullying is dynamic and an escalating process different measures are needed in the different stages of the process.
- Power and control are often at the centre of bullying.
- There may be cultural and structural barriers in organisations (eg hierarchical and authoritarian culture) that decelerate the recognition of bullying as a problem – even religion may increase resistance to recognise the problem.
- Everybody in the organisation should be trained, but organisations have limited resources those who need the training are not always reached.

TABLE 11:Challenges and barriersfor workplace bullying

Table 12 presents actions as a function of prevention state (ie primary, secondary, tertiary) across the occupational hierarchy.³⁵⁶

LEVEL OF WORK ORGANISATION INTERVENTIONS	STAGE OF PREVENTION
Organisation/employer	Primary Anti-bullying policies, codes of conduct, development of organisational culture, management training, organisational survey Secondary
	Handling procedures Tertiary Corporate agreements and programmes of after-care
Job/task	Primary Psychosocial work environment redesign, risk analysis
	Secondary Staff survey, case analysis, training (eg conflict management, conflict resolution), mediation
	Tertiary
	Group recovery programmes
Individual/job interface	Primary Training (eg assertiveness training)
	Secondary
	Social support, counselling
	Tertiary Therapy, counselling

TABLE 12:Actions as a functionof prevention state(ie primary, secondary,tertiary) across theoccupational hierarchy

Success factors³⁵⁷ for workplace violence and bullying interventions are identified in Table 13.

OVERALL SUCCESS FACTORS

- Intervention should be based on scientific knowledge and theory about the causes and escalating nature of bullying and violence situations.
- Tailoring of interventions which need to respond to the problems and needs of the respective
 organisations and should be integrated into the everyday work culture of the organisation.
- Use of multiple approaches and measures.
- Proper diagnosis of the situation and/or risk assessment.
- Top Management commitment.
- Ownership and participation and involvement of employees.
- Training of managers and supervisors.
- Sufficient and continuous communication.
- Sufficient time to ensure experiential learning.
- Occupational health and safety personnel and trade unions are good partners in cooperation.

Examples of best practice: interventions targeting third-party violence³⁵⁸

As for workplace bullying, the European Union research has identified priorities for action,³⁵⁹ as displayed in Table 14.

THIRD PARTY VIOLENCE

- A need for attitude change as concerns staff as well as third parties. Any kind of physical
 or psychological violence should be unacceptable. All workplaces with high risk for
 violence by third parties should have codes of conduct, guidelines and crisis plans for
 the prevention and management of violence.
- The prevention of the fear of violence should be addressed.
- Practical means to address violence problems caused by alcohol and drugs.
- Conflict management and violence handling education should be offered in schools, in higher education and in induction training offered to new employees in occupations where the risk of violence is high.

Like the bullying example, a range of challenges and barriers have also been identified for workplace violence interventions, as listed in Table 15.

THIRD PARTY VIOLENCE

- Under-reporting of violent incidents.
- Attitude change recognition that psychological violence and threatening is also violence should be promoted.
- Stigmatisation and blaming the victim.
- Training of customers and clients not to behave violently.
- Violence has become more serious than before, and employees need advice and means to act.
- There is a risk in some occupations that violence spills over in employees' private lives.
- Violence is nowadays more often met in sectors/occupations that were not problematic before (eg schools).

Success factors for workplace bullying interventions

TABLE 13:

TABLE 14:

Priorities for action against third party violence

TABLE 15:

Challenges and barriers for workplace violence intervention Intervention actions in relation to workplace third party violence are itemised in Table 16 according to prevention and organisation levels.³⁶⁰

LEVEL OF WORK ORGANISATION INTERVENTIONS	STAGE OF PREVENTION		
	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary
Organisation/employer	 Registration of violent incidents Corporative agreements, action, models, guidelines Crisis plans Training 	- Security systems/ arrangements	- Corporate agreements and programmes of after-care
Job/task	 Designing out of risk (eg KAURIS-method, trauma risk assessment) 	 Management and employee training (eg conflict resolution, dealing and handling of violent incidents) 	- Counselling
Individual/job interface	Pre-employment testingTraining	 Training, coaching (interaction and physical interventions, copying with aggression) 	Individual and group therapyCouncelling

TABLE 16: Different levels of third-party violence interventions

The success of intervention programmes targeting third party violence in the workplace mirror those for workplace bulling (re: Table 13 above), and include the points given in Table 17.³⁶¹

THIRD- PARTY VIOLENCE

- Attitude all forms of violence, both physical and psychological, are unacceptable.
- Different kinds of methods are needed in different sectors/occupations (eg police, care of people with dementia).
- Adoption of an integrated organisational approach to violence.
- Systematic registration and analysis of violent incidents.
- Risk assessment should include work environment design, security devices, staffing plans, work practices, guidelines and training.

Examples of best practice: work-related stress interventions³⁶²

A range of success factors for work-related stress interventions have been identified as displayed in Table $18.^{363}$

INTERVENTION CONTENT

- Developing understandable and user-friendly tools for management/organisations.
- Developing a comprehensive stress management programme.
- Knowing when to intervene for rehabilitation and return to work.
- Developing a focused and tailored intervention that addresses a wide spectrum of problems and health, distress and illness.

INTERVENTION DESIGN

- Attaining a strong research design for evaluation with control group.
- Ensuring the reliability/validity of (particularly organisationally tailored) evaluation tools.
- Assessing the cost benefit of interventions.

TABLE 17: Successfactors for third partyviolence interventions

- Effectively evaluating organisational-level interventions given the continuous, adapting and evolving nature of the organisations.
- Effectively assessing the sustainability of intervention effects due to attaining adequate follow-up period, attrition rates/drop-out rates, maintaining organisational support and access and the ever changing organisational context.
- Effectively evaluating intervention process issues and underpinning mechanisms that may affect their impact.

INTERVENTION CONTEXT

- Organisational readiness for and resistance to change.
- Generating achievable solutions, spurring action and systematic implementation of intervention within the organisation.
- Retaining and recruiting management and organisational support throughout the intervention process.
- Retaining and recruiting participation and engagement of workers throughout the process.
- Availability of properly trained individuals to implement the intervention.
- Developing skills, abilities and sufficient dialogue within management and the organisation to promote sustainability and the continuous improvement cycle.
- Developing and maintaining trust and dialogue between the various stakeholders throughout the intervention process.

Social dialogue (soft law)

According to the International Labour Organization, social dialogue is one of the four strategic objectives of decent work (ILO, 1999). The PRIMA-EF developed an indicator framework for social dialogue in the area of psychosocial risk management, as shown in Table 19.³⁶⁴

CONTENT DIMENSIONS OF INDICATORS

Context (general context factors that influence the social dialogue process)

- Economic context (eg unemployment rates, labour productivity etc).
- Freedom of association, union participation in public policy, political climate.
- Availability and provision of resources.
- Regulatory framework, OSH infrastructure (eg enforcing capability of labour inspectorates).

Actors (this dimension refers to adequate structures for social dialogue)

- Traditional indicators like union density or company employee participation etc.
- Unity within social partners and commitment to work together.
- Power relations between social partners.
- Availability of adequate assistance for conflict settlement (eg mediation mechanisms) between social partners, activities to build mutual trust and respect.

Processes (in order to tackle the dynamic quality of the process and to track progress)

- Information/dissemination activities/development of problem awareness.
- Negotiations.
- Implementation.
- Monitoring processes.
- Impact assessment.

Outcomes

- Collective agreements on different levels.
- Existence of policies on workplace level.
- Consideration of psychosocial issues in risk assessment.
- Public awareness of psychosocial issues.

TABLE 18:

Recommendations for work-related stress interventions

CONTENT DIMENSIONS OF INDICATORS

LEVELS OF CONSIDERATION

- Company level.
- Branch/regional level.
- National/political level.

SPECIFIC ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED FOR PSYCHOSOCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

- Different areas of psychosocial risks: work-related stress/violence and harassment.
- National, cultural and social differences in problem perception and problem awareness of relevant issues.
- Gender issues.
- Different enterprise sizes.

This framework would inform the development of concrete indicators and involve researchers and stakeholders addressing issues of data collection and how existing data sets might be ethically used.

Mental health interventions

It should not be assumed that mental health interventions will be effective in changing occupational outcomes.³⁶⁵ A recent systematic review concludes that there are empirically supported interventions that workplaces can use to prevent common mental illnesses and to help employees recover from depression and anxiety. The findings are summarised in Table 20.

INTERVENTIONS	SYMPTOM REDUCTION	OCCUPATIONAL OUTCOMES	MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND COMMENTS
Increased employee control	**	?	Some interventions, such as problem-solving committees, stress reduction committees, self-scheduling of shifts and gradual/partial retirement appear to increase employee control and reduce mental health symptoms.
Physical activity	**	*	May have an effect on employee mental health but type, amount and intensity of activity required is unclear. Mixed findings regarding effect on organizational outcomes.
Workplace health promotion	*	*	Mixed findings. May have an effect on absenteeism, but unclear which components most effective.
Screening	*	*	Limited evidence from a small number of Randomised Control Trials for the effectiveness of screening in certain work situations, but only when appropriate detailed post- screening procedures are in place.
Counselling	*	*	Strong evidence of customer satisfaction, but objective evidence of benefits remains unclear. Significant methodological limitations in research.
Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)-based stress management interventions (SMI)	***	?	CBT-based stress management interventions produce individual benefits in terms of reduced stress and symptoms, but this does not appear to translate to notable improvements in organisational level outcomes such as absenteeism.
Psychological debriefing following potentially traumatic event in the workplace	Strong evidence against	?	Psychological debriefing following a traumatic event unlikely to be of benefit and should not be offered routinely in the workplace.

TABLE 19:

Social dialogue indicator framework for psychosocial risk management

INTERVENTIONS	SYMPTOM REDUCTION	OCCUPATIONAL OUTCOMES	MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND COMMENTS
CBT for established depression or anxiety disorder	***	**	Strong evidence that CBT can reduce depression/anxiety symptoms but the impact on organisational outcomes less certain. Return to work programmes that incorporate CBT and problem-focused strategies have a positive effect on organisational and individual outcomes.
Exposure therapy for established anxiety disorders and post- traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)	***	★★ Exposure therapy can improve symptoms for who have developed PTSD following occupat injury. Exposure therapy is also associated wit sickness absence and improved productivity i anxiety disorde	
Medication	***	?	Strong evidence that medication can reduce symptoms of established depression and anxiety disorders. Inconclusive results of the effect of antidepressants on organizational outcomes for depressed workers.

TABLE 20: Levels of evidence for mental health interventions in the workplace

3.8 The way forward

International experience in addressing psychosocial hazards in the workplace offers an opportunity to be aware of the potential barriers and facilitators. As noted previously, in the EU there were a number of drivers and success factors and barriers to the development and implementation of policy level interventions. They are worth repeating here.

Main drivers and success factors experienced in the European Union include:

- increased awareness of psychosocial issues in organisations and society
- the undeniable evidence of losses and harm caused by poor management of psychosocial hazards
- campaigns focusing on violence, bullying and harassment that address the ethical and societal implications
- importance of recognition in the legal context regulations encourage and increase discussion at the organisational level
- consultation with social partners and social dialogue
- research commitment and contribution a key driver but dissemination of findings needs to be improved
- involvement of workers in developing interventions and long-term commitment from key stakeholders are central to successful implementation.

Barriers include:

- lack of both awareness and prioritisation of psychosocial hazard management
- absence of clear guidance on how to establish if work-related stress is a problem and then, once identified, how to address it
- differences in opinion between the key stakeholders at the macro level is a key policy challenge
- the need for a clear communication structure between Ministries of Labour and Health
- need for evaluation of policy initiatives
- implementation is not given enough time alongside poor support of employers and employees
- the fluid nature of work and worker characteristics challenges psychosocial risk management

- lack of enforcing mechanisms
- non-binding agreements
- lack of sanctions relating to voluntary agreements
- inherent power differences at all levels from macro to enterprise (eg employers happy with tertiary interventions are more resistance to primary interventions)
- little consensus over source, that is, individual vs. home life vs. workplace.

The World Health Organization's global plan of action on workers' health aims to promote health in the workplace through employing integrated measures to manage psychosocial hazards. This plan addresses all aspects of workers' health and includes primary prevention of occupational hazards, the protection and promotion of health at work, safer employment conditions and the need for a better response from health and regulatory systems to worker health. In New Zealand, putting such a plan into action would involve collaborations between WorkSafe, MBIE, HPA and the MOH and addressing the gaps in the occupational health workforce so systemic change is possible.

Effective psychosocial risk management is dependent on the key agents having adequate knowledge, relevant and reliable evidence and effective and userfriendly methods and tools, and the availability of competent experts, services and institutions, and research and development.

Appendices

IN THIS SECTION:

Appendix 1: References and notesAppendix 2: Questionnaire

Appendix A: Glossary

TERM	DEFINITION
Absenteeism	Absence from work.
Anxiety	A nervous disorder marked by excessive uneasiness and apprehension, typically with compulsive behaviour or panic attacks.
Bullying at work	Repeated actions and practices that are directed against one or more workers, that are unwanted by the victim, that may be carried out deliberately or unconsciously, but clearly cause humiliation, offence and distress and that may interfere with job performance and/or cause an unpleasant working environment. The concept of bullying relates to persistent exposure to negative and aggressive behaviours of a primarily psychological nature and describes situations where hostile behaviours are directed systematically at one or more colleagues or subordinates and lead to stigmatisation and victimisation of the recipient(s).
Depression	Mental health condition characterised by pervasive low mood.
Engagement	Fulfilment from work, characterised by vigour, dedication and absorption.
Hazard	A physical or psychosocial condition, object or agent that has the potential to cause harm to a worker and/or to cause damage to property or the environment.
Musculoskeletal disorders	Disorders of the muscles, joints, tendons, ligaments, bones and nerves.
Organisational climate	Properties of the work environment as perceived by employees.
Occupational health risk assessment	The identification of occupational health hazards (through surveillance) and workers exposed to specific hazards followed by an analysis of how the hazard may affect the worker, followed by determination of intensity (level) and magnitude (volume) of risk, followed by the identification of individuals or groups with special vulnerabilities, followed by an evaluation of available hazard prevention and control.
Quality of life	General well-being of individuals and society.
Precarious employment	Employment terms that may reduce social security and stability for workers, defined by temporality, powerlessness, lack of benefits, lack of protection and low income. Flexible, contingent, non-standard temporary work contracts do not necessarily but often provide an inferior economic status.
Presenteeism	Being present at work but with reduced output.
Productivity	The effectiveness of converting effort into output.
Psychosocial work environment	The content of work and work demands, the social relationships at work, the organisation of work and the work culture, which each can affect the mental and physical well-being of workers including management.
Psychosocial hazard	Refers to the aspects of the design and management of work and its social and organisational contexts that may have the potential for causing psychological or physical harm.
Psychosocial safety climate	Type of organisational climate, characterised by prioritising employee psychological health.
Psychological distress	Negative emotional state including anxiety, sadness and depression.
Stress	A state of mental or emotional strain or tension resulting from adverse or demanding circumstances.
Stressor at work	A condition or circumstance in a workplace that elicits a stress response from workers.
Surveillance	The ongoing and systematic collection, analysis and interpretation of data and the appropriate dissemination of such data.
Work-family interference or conflict	A type of role interference that occurs when work demands and responsibilities make it more difficult to fulfil family role responsibilities.

Appendix B: References and notes

- Scott-Howman, A. & Walls, C. (2003). Workplace stress in New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand: Thomson Reuters.
- ² See 1 (p. 33).
- ³ See 1 (p. 72).
- ⁴ Duncan, Dawn. (2019) 50 years on from the Woodhouse Report: workers' health in New Zealand's ACC scheme. *Policy Quarterly* 15(1) February 2019.
- ⁵ http://hazelarmstronglaw.co.nz/tag/acc-case-law
- ⁶ Duncan, D. (2016) Regulating work that kills us slowly: the challenge of chronic health problems. *New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations*, 41(2),87-103.
- ⁷ For example, the Minister for Workplace Relations and Safety's Letter of Expectations for 2018/2019; WorkSafe New Zealand Statement of Intent 2018/19 and Statement of Performance Expectations 2018/19; *Healthy Work*, Strategic Plan for Work-Related Health 2016-2026; Harm Reduction Action Plan (currently being updated); Health and Safety at Work Act 2015; *Working Safer* Blueprint.
- ⁸ www.who.int/about/who-we-are/constitution
- ⁹ www.mbie.govt.nz/business-and-employment/employment-and-skills/health-and-safety/ health-and-safety-strategy
- ¹⁰ Cox, T., Griffiths, A., & Rial-Gonzalez, E. (2000). Research on work related stress. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- ¹¹ Schultz, A. B. & Edington, D. W. (2007). Employee health and presenteeism: A systematic review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 17(3), 547–579.
- ¹² Kivimaki, M., Head, J., Ferrie, J. E., Shipley, M. J., Vahtera, J. & Marmot, M. G. (2003). Sickness absence as a global measure of health: Evidence from mortality in the Whitehall II prospective cohort study. British Medical Journal, 327(7411), 364–368.
- ¹³ Spurgeon, A., Harrington, J. M. & Cooper, C.L. (1997). Health and safety problems associated with long working hours: A review of the current position. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 54(6), 367–375.
- ¹⁴ Modini, M., Joyce, S., Mykletun, A., Christiansen, H., Bryant, R. A., Mitchell, P. B. & Harvey, S. B. (2016). The mental health benefits of employment: Results of a systematic meta-review. *Australian Psychiatry*, 24(4), 331–336.
- ¹⁵ Stavroula, L., Jain, A. & Lerouge, L. (2017). Work-related psychosocial risks: Key definitions and an overview of the policy context in Europe. In L. Lerouge (Ed.), *Psychosocial risks in labour and social security law. Aligning perspectives on health, safety, and well-being* (pp. 1–12). Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- ¹⁶ Kompier, M. A. J. & Marcelissen, F. H. G. (1990). Handbook of work stress: A systematic approach for organizational practice. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: NIA.
- ¹⁷ Lazarus, R. S. (1993). From psychological stress to the emotions: A history of changing outlooks. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 44, 1–21.
- ¹⁸ Two neuronendocrine systems are at play here: (i) the sympathetic adrenomedullary (SAM) system with the secretion of the two catecholamines, epinephrine and norepinephrine, and (ii) the hypothalamic pituitary adrenocortical (HPA) system with the secretion of cortisol. In response to sympathetic stimulation, epinephrine and norepinephrine are rapidly secreted into the blood stream with pronounced effects on the cardiovascular system and the release of energy (glucose, free fatty acids). Cortisol secretion is regulated by the andrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the pituitary gland and reaches a peak in blood about 30 minutes after the acute stress exposure. Cortisol influences the metabolism of cells, the fat distribution and the immune system, and cortisol levels are controlled by a feedback system in the hypothalamus and the hippocampal formation. They can be measured in saliva, blood, urine and are used as objective indicators of stress in the individual. See 20, pp. 1–2.
- ¹⁹ Karasek R. A. & Theorell, T. (1990). *Health work: Stress, productivity and the reconstruction of working life*. New York, USA: Basic Books.
- ²⁰ Lundberg, U. (2005). Stress Hormones in health and illness: The roles of work and gender. *Psychoeuroendocrinology*, 30, 1017–1021.
- ²¹ Lazarus, R. S. & Folkman, S. (1984). Coping and adaptation. In W. D. Gentry (Ed.), *The handbook of behavioral medicine* (pp. 225–282). New York, USA: Guilford.
- ²² Cox, T., Griffiths, A., & Rial-Gonzalez, E. (2000). *Research on work related stress*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- ²³ Bosma, H., Marmot, M. G., Hemingway, G., Nicholson, A. C., Brunner, E. & Stansfield, S. A. (1997). Low job control and risk of coronary heart disease in Whitehall II (prospective cohort) study. *British Medical Journal*, 314(7080), 558–565.
- ²⁴ Kristiansen, T. S. (1996). Job stress and cardiovascular disease: A theoretic critical review. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 1(3), 246–260.
- ²⁵ Schabracq, M., Winnubst, J.A.M., Cooper, C.L. (Eds) (1996). The Handbook of Work & Health Psychology, Second Edition. www.al-edu.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/Handbook-of-Work-and-Health-Psychology-2Ed-2003.pdf#page=204

- ²⁷ www.statista.com/chart/6177/stress-is-biggest-threat-to-workplace-health
- ²⁸ See 19.

²⁶ See 20.

- ²⁹ Karasek, R. A. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: Implications for job redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24, 285–308.
- ³⁰ Karasek, R. (1989). Control in the workplace and its health-related aspects. In S. L. Sauter, J. J. Hurrell & C. L. Cooper (Eds.), *Job control and worker health* (pp. 129–159). Chichester, UK: Wiley.
- ³¹ Leka, S. & Jain, A. (2010). *Health impact of psychosocial hazards at work: An overview*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- ³² Schnall, P. L., Landsbergis, P. A. & Baker. D. (1994). Job strain and cardiovascular disease. Annual Review of Public Health, 15, 381–411.
- ³³ Hurrell, J. J. & McLaney, M. A. (1989). Control, job demands and job satisfaction. In S. L. Sauter, J. J. Hurrell & C. L. Cooper (Eds.), *Job control and worker health* (pp. 97–103). Chichester, UK: Wiley.
- ³⁴ Melamed, S., Kushnir, T. & Meir, E. (1991). Attenuating the impact of job demands: Additive and interactive effects of perceived control and social support. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 39, 40–53.
- ³⁵ Theorell, T., Tsutsumi, A., Hallquist, J., Reuterwall, C., Hogstedt, C., Fredlund, P., Emlund, N. et al. (1998). Decision latitude, job strain and myocardial infarction: A study of working men in Stockholm. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88, 382–388.
- ³⁶ See 23.
- ³⁷ Hellerstedt, W. L. & Jeffrey, R. W. (1997). The association of job strain and health behaviours in men and women. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 26, 575-583.
- ³⁸ Cooper, C. L. & Cartwright, S. (1994). Healthy mind: Healthy organizations A proactive approach to occupational stress. *Human Relations*, 47, 455–471.
- ³⁹ See 20.
- ⁴⁰ Belkic, K., Schnall, P., Landsbergis, P. & Baker, D. (2000). The workplace and cardiovascular health: Conclusions and thoughts for a future agenda. *Occupational Medicine*, 15(1), 307–321.
- ⁴¹ Shore, C. (2010). Beyond the multiversity: Neoliberalism and the rise of the schizophrenic university. *Social Anthropology/Anthropologie Sociale*, 18(1), 15–29.
- ⁴² Lovelock, K. & Houghton, R. (2017). *Healthy on the outside, sick on the inside: Work-related health in forestry*. Wellington, New Zealand: WorkSafe New Zealand.
- ⁴³ Stansfeld, S. A., Fuhrer, R., Shipley, M. J. & Marmot, M. G. (1999). Work characteristics predict psychiatric disorder: Prospective results from the Whitehall II study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 56, 302–307.
- ⁴⁴ Radi, S., Ostry, A. & LaMontagne, A. D. (2007). Job stress and other working conditions: Relationships with smoking behaviors in a representative sample of working Australians. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 50, 584–596.
- ⁴⁵ Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., and Martin, C. E. (2005) Job Resources Buffer the Impact of Job Demands Burnout. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 10(2):170-180.
- ⁴⁶ Hoel, H., Sparks, K. & Cooper, C. (2001). The cost of violence/stress at work and the benefits of a violence/stress-free working environment. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization.
- ⁴⁷ Michie, S. & Williams, S. (2003). Reducing work-related psychological ill health and sickness absence: A systematic literature review. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60, 3–9.
- ⁴⁸ De Croon, E. M., Sluiter, J. K., Blonk, R. W., Broersen, J. P. & Frings-Dresen, M. H. (2004). Stressful work, psychological job strain and turnover: A 2 year prospective cohort study of truck drivers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 442–454.
- ⁴⁹ National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (1996). National occupational health agenda (NORA). NIOSH Publication No.96-115. Cincinnati, USA: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- ⁵⁰ Rosenstock, L. (1997). Work organization research at the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 2, 7-10.
- ⁵¹ Amich, B. C., Swanson, N. G. & Chang, H. (1999). Office technology and musculoskeletal disorders: Building an ecological model. *Occupational Medicine*, 14, 97-112.
- ⁵² Hurrell, J. J. & McLaney, M. A. (1988). Exposure to job stress a new psychometric instrument. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health, 14(Suppl 1), 27–28.
- ⁵³ Kasl, S. V. (1998). Measuring job stressors and studying the health impacts of the work environment: An epidemiologic commentary. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 3, 390–401.
- ⁵⁴ Landsbergis, P. & Theorell, T. (2000). Measurement of psychosocial workplace exposure variables. *Occupational Medicine*, 15, 163–188.
- ⁵⁵ Benach, J. J. & Muntaner, C. (2007). Precarious employment and health: Developing a research agenda. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 61, 276–277.
- ⁵⁶ Quinlan, M. & Bohle, P. (2009). Overstretched and unreciprocated commitment: Reviewing research on the occupational health and safety effects of downsizing and job insecurity. *International Journal of Health Services*, 39, 1–44.
- 57 See 55.
- ⁵⁸ Cranford, C., Vosko, L. & Zukewich, N. (2003). Precarious employment in the Canadian labour market: A statistical portrait. *Just Labour*, 3, 23–35.
- ⁵⁹ Broom, D. H., D'Souza, R. M., Strazdins, L., Butterworth, P., Parslow, R. & Rodgers, B. (2006). The lesser evil: Bad jobs or unemployment? A survey of mid-aged Australians. *Social Science and Medicine*, 63, 575–586.

60 See 22.

- ⁶¹ Pines, A. & Kanner, A. D. (1982). Nurses' burnout: Lack of positive conditions and presence of negative conditions as two independent sources of stress. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 20(8), 30-35.
- ⁶² Operators sometimes receive distressed calls from people who may be under financial and other stress or in physical danger, as reported by NZ Police, ACC and some utilities services. For example. Between early 2016 and August 2018, IRD received 822 self-harm threats about half of which were reported to Police (trending down to 182 calls to date in 2018) See also the UK Health and Safety Laboratory report <u>Psychosocial risk factors in call centres</u>: An evaluation of work design and well-being (2003) HSE.
- ⁶³ Alexander, D. A. & Wells, A. (1991). Reactions of police officers to body-handling after a major disaster: A before-and-after comparison. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 6, 547–555.
- ⁶⁴ Stephens, C. (1997). Debriefing, social support and PTSD in the New Zealand police: Testing a multidimensional model of organizational traumatic stress. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies, 1997-1.*
- ⁶⁵ Salinas, C. R. & Webb, H. E. (2018). Occupational stress and coping mechanisms in crime scene personnel. *Occupational Medicine*, 68(4), 239–245.
- ⁶⁶ Schaufeli, W. B. & Peeters M. C. W. (2000). Job stress and burnout among correctional officers: A literature review. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 7(1), 19–29.
- ⁶⁷ Acker, S. (1995) Carry on caring: The work of women teachers. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 16, 21-36.
- ⁶⁸ Zapf, D. (2002) Emotion work and psychological well-being. A review of the literature and some conceptual considerations. *Human Resource Management Review*, 12, 237-268.
- ⁶⁹ Sass, J.S. (2000) Emotional labour as cultural performance: The communication of caregiving in a non-profit nursing home. Western Journal of Communication 64(3):330-358.
- ⁷⁰ Kato, T.(2014) Coping with interpersonal stress and psychological distress at work: Comparison of hospital nursing staff and salespeople. *Psychol. Res. Behav. Manag.* 7,31-36.
- ⁷¹ van der Ploeg, E. & Kleber, R. J. (2003). Acute and chronic job stressors among ambulance personnel: Predictors of health symptoms. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60(Suppl1). i40-i46.
- ⁷² Rössler, W. (2012). Stress, burnout, and job dissatisfaction in mental health workers. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 262(Suppl2), S65–S69.
- ⁷³ Beaton, R., Murphy, S., Johnson, C., Pike, K. & Corneil, W. (1998). Exposure to duty-related incident stressors in urban firefighters and paramedics. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 11, 821-828.
- ⁷⁴ Guilaran, J., de Terte, I., Kaniasty, K. & Stephens, C. (2018). Psychological outcomes in disaster responders: A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effect of social support. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Science*, 9(3), 344–358.
- ⁷⁵ Shepherd, D., McBride, D. & Lovelock, K. (2017). First responder well-being following the 2011 Canterbury earthquake. *Disaster Prevention and Management*, 26(3), 286–297.
- ⁷⁶ Temitope, K. M. & Williams, M. M. (2015). Secondary traumatic stress, burnout and the role of resilience in New Zealand counsellors. *New Zealand Journal of Counselling*, 35(1), 1–21.
- ⁷⁷ Bondarenko, Y., du Preez, E., & Shepherd, D. (2017). Emotional labour in mental health field workers. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 46(1), 4–13
- ⁷⁸ Bentley, T., Catley, B., Forsyth, D. & Tappin, D. (2014). Understanding workplace violence: The value of a systems perspective. *Applied Ergonomics*, 45, 839–848.
- ⁷⁹ Allport, G.W. (1979) The Nature of Prejudice. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- ⁸⁰ Enarsen, S., Raknes, B. I. & Matthiesen, S. B. (1994). Bullying and harassment at work and their relationships to work environment quality: An exploratory study. *The European Work and Organizational Psychologist*, 4, 381-401.
- ⁸¹ Salin, D. (2003). Ways of explaining work place bullying: A review of enabling, motivating and precipitating structures and processes in the work environment. *Human Relations*, 56(10), 1213–1232.
- ⁸² Vartia, M. (1996). The sources of bullying psychological work environment and organizational climate. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 5, 203–214.
- ⁸³ Vartia, M. (2001). Consequences of workplace bullying with respect to the well-being of its targets and the observers of bullying. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 27(1), 63–69.
- ⁸⁴ Zapf, D., Knorz, C. & Kulla, M. (1996). On the relationship between mobbing factors and job content, the social work environment and health outcomes. *European Journal of Work and Organisational Psychology*, 5, 215–237.
- ⁸⁵ Proctor-Thomson, S., Donnelly, N. & Plimmer, G. (2011). *Constructing the workplace democracy: Women's voice in New Zealand public services*. Wellington, New Zealand: Victoria University of Wellington and the Public Service Association.
- ⁸⁶ Plimmer, G., Wilson, J., Bryson, J., Blumenfeld, S., Donnelly. N. & Ryan, B. (2013). Workplace dynamics in New Zealand public services: A survey report prepared for the Public Service Association (PSA). Wellington, New Zealand: The Industrial Relations Centre (IRC) and the School of Management Victoria University of Wellington.
- ⁸⁷ Bentley, T., Catley, B., Cooper-Thomas, H., Gardner, D., O'Driscoll, M. & Trenberth, L. (2009). Understanding stress and bullying in New Zealand workplaces. Auckland, New Zealand: Massey University.

- ⁸⁸ Van Heugten, K. (2010). Bullying of social workers: Outcomes of a grounded study into impacts and interventions. *British Journal of Social Work,* 40, 638–655.
- ⁸⁹ Bentley, T. A., Catley, B., Cooper-Thomas, H., Gardner, D., O'Driscoll, M. P., Dale, A. & Trenberth, L. (2012). Perceptions of workplace bullying in the New Zealand travel industry: Prevalence and management strategies. *Tourism Management*, 33, 351–360.
- ⁹⁰ Bentley, T., Catley, B., Gardner D., O'Driscoll, M., Trenberth, L. & Cooper-Thomas, H. (2009). Perspectives on bullying in the New Zealand health and hospitality sectors. *The Journal of Occupational Health and Safety – Australia and New Zealand*, 25, 363–373.
- ⁹¹ Einarsen, S., Matthiesen, S. & Skogstad, A. (1998). Bullying, burnout and well-being among assistant nurses. *The Journal of Occupational Health and Safety – Australia and New Zealand*, 16(6), 563–568.
- ⁹² Thirlwall, A. & Haar, J. M. (2010). Bullying in New Zealand: Comparing NAQ findings to European and USA studies. *New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations*, 29, 67–83.
- ⁹³ Einarsen, S., Hoel, H., Zapf, D. & Cooper, C. L. (Eds.). (2003). Bullying and emotional abuse in the workplace: International perspectives in research and practice. London, UK: Taylor & Francis.
- ⁹⁴ Gardner, D., Bentley, T., Catley, B., Cooper-Thomas, H., O'Driscoll, M. & Trenberth, L. (2013). Ethnicity, workplace bullying, social support and psychological strain in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 42(1), 123–130.
- 95 See 87.
- 96 See 78.
- ⁹⁷ Pillinger, J. (2017). Violence and harassment against women and men in the world of work: Trade union perspectives and action. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization.
- 98 See 97.
- ⁹⁹ Chappell D. & Di Martino V. (2006) Violence at Work. 3rd Edition. ILO. Geneva. www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/%40dgreports/%40dcomm/%40publ/documents/ publication/wcms_publ_9221108406_en.pdf
- ¹⁰⁰ Bentley Tim, A., Catley Bevan., Forsyth Darryl., Tappin David., (2014) Understanding workplace violence: the value of a systems perspective. *Applied Ergonomics* 45, 839-848.
- ¹⁰¹ See 99.
- ¹⁰² European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. (2011). EU LBGT survey results at a glance. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B6GOYVsOQy4</u> Guasp, A. (2012). Gay in Britain: Lesbian, gay and bisexual people's experiences and expectations of discrimination. London, UK: Stonewall.
- ¹⁰³ Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. (2017). Tackling discrimination against lesbian, gay, bi, trans, & intersex people: Standards of conduct for business. New York, USA: United Nations.
- ¹⁰⁴ National Retail Association. (2016). Family violence and the Australian retail industry. Brisbane, Australia: National Retail Association.
- ¹⁰⁵ <u>https://zonta.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/The-Impacts-of-Domestic-Violence-on-Workers-and-the-Workplace-Margaret-Rayner-Thomas.pdf</u> Research commissioned by the Public Service Association.
- ¹⁰⁶ www.legislation.govt.nz/bill/member/2016/0215/latest/whole.html
- ¹⁰⁷ Ashforth, B. E. (1997). Petty tyranny in organizations: A preliminary examination of antecedents and consequences. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, 14(2), 126–140.
- ¹⁰⁸ UN Women. (2015). *Progress of the world's women 2015–2016: Transforming economies, realizing rights*. New York, USA: UN Women.
- ¹⁰⁹ The concept of type A behaviour came out of a series of studies investigating CHD, referred to as the Western Collaborative Studies (WCGs) over an eight-year period. Type A personality trait is characterised as hard driving and competitive behaviour, potential for hostility, pronounced impatience and a vigorous speech style, job involved, achievement striving and deadline focused. Type B is an individual who has a relative lack of these characteristics. The risk of CHD (even after controlling) was twice as high for type As.
- ¹¹⁰ Hemingway, H. & Marmot, M. (1999). Psychosocial factors in the aetiology and prognosis of coronary heart disease: Systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *British Medical Journal*, 318(7196), 1460–1467.
- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R. & Zola, M. A. (1983). Type A and hardiness. Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 6(1), 41–51.
- ¹¹² Locus of control in personality psychology is the degree to which people believe they have control over events in their lives rather than external forces being beyond their control.
- ¹¹³ Azjen, I. (2002). Perceived behavioral control, self-efficacy, locus of control, and the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 32(4), 665–683.
- ¹¹⁴ From the theory of planned behaviour, where briefly it is hypothesised that human behaviour is guided by three kinds of considerations: beliefs about the likely consequences or other attributes of the behaviour (behavioural beliefs), beliefs about the normative expectations of other people (normative beliefs) and beliefs about the presence of factors that may further or hinder performance of the behaviour (control beliefs). See 113.
- ¹¹⁵ Individuals high on locus of control are considered more resistant to stress.
- ¹¹⁶ High NA is a broad dispositional dimension where an individual has negative emotionality and self-concept. High NA individuals are more likely to report distress, discomfort and dissatisfaction, be more introspective and dwell on their own failures and shortcomings,

focus on the negative side of the world and therefore have a less favourable self-view and be less satisfied with themselves and life. NA is considered synonymous with neuroticism.

- ¹¹⁷ Parkes, K. R. (1990). Coping, negative affectivity, and the work environment: Additive and interactive predictors of mental health. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 399-409.
- ¹¹⁸ Watson, D. & Clark, L. A. (1984). Negative affectivity: The disposition to experience aversive emotional states. *Psychological Bulletin*, 96, 465–490.
- ¹¹⁹ See 118.
- ¹²⁰ Mäkikangas, A. & Kinnunen, U. (2003). Psychosocial work stressors and well-being: Self-esteem and optimism as moderators in a one-year longitudinal sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 35(3), 537–557.
- ¹²¹ Greenhaus, J. H. & Parasuraman, S. (1987). A work and non-work interactive perspective of stress and its consequences. In J. M. Ivancevich & D. C. Ganster (Eds.), Job stress: *From theory to suggestion* (pp. 37-60). New York, USA: Haworth.
- ¹²² Chen, P. Y. & Spector, P. E. (1991). Negative affectivity as the underlying causes of correlations between stressors and strain. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76, 398–407.
- ¹²³ Moyle, P. (1995). The role of negative affectivity in the stress process: Tests of alternative models. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 16, 647–668.
- ¹²⁴ See 117.
- ¹²⁵ Cropanzano, R. & James, K. (1993). Dispositional affectivity as a predictor of work attitudes and job performance. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 14, 595–606.
- ¹²⁶ Brief, A. P., Butcher, A. H. & Roberson, L. (1995). Cookies, disposition, and job attitudes: The effects of positive mood inducing events and negative affectivity on job satisfaction in a field experiment. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Making Processes*, 62, 55–62.

- ¹²⁸ Deary, I. J., Blenkin, H., Agius, R. M., Endler, N. S. et al. (1996). Models of job-related stress and personal achievement among consultant doctors. *British Journal of Psychology*, 87, 3–29.
- ¹²⁹ See 123.
- ¹³⁰ Brief, A. P., Burke, M. J., George, J. M., Robinson, B. S. & Webster, J. (1988). Should negative affectivity remain an unmeasured variable in the study of job stress? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73, 193–198.
- ¹³¹ Bolger, N. & Schilling, E. A. (1991). Personality and the problems of everyday life: The role of neuroticism in exposure and reactivity to daily stressors. *Journal of Personality*, 59, 355–386.
- ¹³² Jones, F. & Bright, J. E. H. (2011). Stress: Myth, theory and research. London, UK: Pearson Education.
- ¹³³ Bartley, M., Popay, J. & Plewis, I. (1992). Domestic conditions, paid employment and women's experience of ill-health. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 14, 313–343.
- ¹³⁴ Wang, J.L., Lesage, A., Schmitz, N., Drapeau, A. (2008) The relationship between work stress and mental disorders in men and women: findings from a population based study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62, 42-47. Doi:10.1136/jech. 2006.050591.
- ¹³⁵ Rosenfield, S. (1989). The effects of women's employment: Personal control and sex differences in mental health. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 30, 77–91.
- ¹³⁶ Arber, S., Gilbert, G. N. & Dale, A. (1985). Paid employment and women's health: A benefit or a source of role strain? *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 7, 375-400.

- ¹³⁸ Hallman, T., Burell, G., Setterlind, S. (2001) Psychosocial Risk Factors for Coronary Heart Disease, Their Importance Compared with Other Risk Factors and Gender Differences in Sensitivity. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 8(1), 39-49.
- ¹³⁹ Griffin, J. M., Fuhrer, R., Standsfeld, S. A. & Marmot, M. (2002). The importance of low control at work and home on depression and anxiety: Do these effects vary by gender and social class? *Social Science and Medicine*, 54(5), 783–798.
- ¹⁴⁰ Beauregard, N., Marchand, A., Bilodeau, J., Durand, P., Demers, A. & Haines, V. Y. (2018). Gendered pathways to burnout: Results from the SALVEO study. *Annals of Work Exposures and Health*, 62(4), 426-437.
- ¹⁴¹ Eng, A., 'tMannetje, A., Ellison-Loschmann, L., McLean, D., Cheng, S., Pearce, N. (2011) Ethnic Differences in Patterns of Occupational Exposure in New Zealand. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 54:410-418.
- 142 See 141.
- ¹⁴³ Lanthier, S., Du Mont, J. & Mason, R. (2018). Responding to delayed disclosure of sexual assault in health settings: A systematic review. *Trauma Violence and Abuse*, 19(3).

144 See 141.

- ¹⁴⁵ Sisley, R. & Waiti, D. (1997). Te pikaunga-mahi me te kohukihuki (workload and stress): A national survey of Maori ASTE Te Hau Takitini o Aotearoa members. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Council for Educational Research.
- ¹⁴⁶ Stewart, L. & Gardner, D. (2015). Developing mahi oranga: A culturally responsive measure of Māori occupational stress and wellbeing. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 44(2), 79-88.
- 147 See 146
- ¹⁴⁸ Durie, M. (1998). Waiora: Māori health and development. Auckland, New Zealand: Oxford

¹²⁷ See 122.

¹³⁷ See 134.

University Press.

- ¹⁴⁹ (MODF) Māori Outcome Dimension Framework (MODF), Kingi, T. & Durie, M. (2000)
 "Hua Oranga": A Māori measure of mental health outcomes. Palmerston North, New Zealand, Te Pūmanawa Hauora, School of Māori Studies, Massey University.
- ¹⁵⁰ Van der Doef, M. & Maes, S. (1999). The job demand-control (-support) model and psychological well-being: A review of 20 years of empirical research. Work Stress, 13, 87-114.
- ¹⁵¹ Ferrie, J. E., Shipley, M. J., Marmot, M. G., Stansfeld, S. A. & Smith, G. D. (1998). An uncertain future: The health effects of threats to employment security in white-collar men and women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88, 1030-1036.
- ¹⁵² Siegrist, J. (1996). Adverse health effects of high-effort/low reward conditions. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 1, 27–41.
- ¹⁵³ Weeg, N., Dranano, N., Erbel, R., Jockel, K. H., Moebus, S., Stang, A. & Siegrist, J. (2008). When does work stress hurt? Testing the interaction with socioeconomic position in the Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 62, 338–341.
- ¹⁵⁴ Landbergis, P. A., Schnall, P. L., Pickering, T. G., Warren, K. & Schwartz, J. E. (2003). Lower socioeconomic status among men in relation to the association between job strain and blood pressure. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 29, 206–215.
- ¹⁵⁵ Ibrahim, S., Smith, P. M. & Muntaner, C. (2009). A multi-group cross-lagged analyses of work stressors and health using a Canadian national sample. *Social Science and Medicine*, 68, 49–59.
- ¹⁵⁶ Marchand, A., Durand, P., Haines, V. & Harvey, S. (2014). The multilevel determinants of workers' mental health: Results from the SALVEO study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 50(3), 445–459.
- ¹⁵⁷ Haines, V., Marchand, A., Rousseau, V. & Demers, A. (2008). The mediating role of work-to-family conflict in the relationships between shift work and depression. *Work Stress*, 22, 341-356.
- ¹⁵⁸ See 157.
- ¹⁵⁹ OECD. (2011). Sick on the job? Myths and realities about mental health and work. Paris, France: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- ¹⁶⁰ See 159.
- ¹⁶¹ www.enwhp.org/resources/toolip/doc/2018/10/25/barcelona_declaration.pdf
- ¹⁶² http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA65/A65_10-en.pdf?ua=1
- ¹⁶³ Cox, T., Griffiths, A., & Leka, S. (2005). Work organization and work-related stress. In K. Gardiner & J. M. Harrington (Eds.), *Occupational Hygiene* (3rd ed.). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- ¹⁶⁴ LaMontagne, A. D., Keegel, T., Wallance, D., Ostry, A. & Wolfe, R. (2008). Job strain attributable depression in a sample of working Australians: Assessing the contribution to health inequalities. *BMC Public Health*, 8, 181.
- ¹⁶⁵ Leka, S., Jain, A., Iavicoli, M., Yartia, A. & Ertel, M. (2011). The role of policy for the management of psychosocial risks at the workplace in the European Union. *Safety Science*, 49(4), 558–564.
- ¹⁶⁶ Health and Disability Commissioner. (2018). New Zealand's mental health and addiction services: The monitoring and advocacy report of the Mental Health Commissioner. Auckland, New Zealand: Health and Disability Commissioner.
- ¹⁶⁷ See 166 (p. 20).
- ¹⁶⁸ Statistics New Zealand www.stats.govt.nz
- ¹⁶⁹ Melchior, M., Caspi, A., Milne, B. J. Danese, A., Polton, R. & Moffit ,T. E. (2007). Work Stress precipitates depression and anxiety in young, working women and men. *Psychological Medicine*, 37, 1119–1129.
- ¹⁷⁰ Standsfeld, S. A., Clark, C., Caldwell, T., Rodgers, B. & Power, C. (2008). Psychosocial work characteristics and anxiety and depressive disorders in midlife: The effects of prior psychological distress. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 65, 434–442.
- ¹⁷¹ See 166.
- ¹⁷² See 166.
- ¹⁷³ See 166.
- ¹⁷⁴ Harvey, S.B., Modini, M., Joyce, S., Milligan-Saville, J.S. et al. (2017) Can work make you mentally ill? A systematic review of work-related risk factors for common mental health problems. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 0:1-10 doi:10.1136/oemed-2016-104015.
- ¹⁷⁵ See 174.
- ¹⁷⁶ European Working Conditions Survey <u>www.eurofound.europa.eu/surveys/european-working-</u> conditions-surveys
- ¹⁷⁷ Stevenson, D. & Farmer, P. (2007). *Thriving at work: The Stevenson/Farmer review of mental health and employers*. London, UK: Department for Work and Pensions and Department of Health and Social Care.
- ¹⁷⁸ Harvey, S. B., Modini, M., Joyce, S., Milligan-Saville, J. S. et al. (2017). Can work make you mentally ill? A systematic metareview of work-related risk factors for common mental health problems. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 74(4), 301–310.
- ¹⁷⁹ See 14.
- ¹⁸⁰ World Health Organization. (2003). Work organization and stress. Protecting Workers' Health Series No.3. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- ¹⁸¹ World Health Organization. (2003). *Raising awareness to psychological harassment at work*.

Protecting Workers' Health Series No.4. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

- ¹⁸² World Health Organization. (2007). Raising awareness of stress at work in developing countries: A modern hazard in a traditional working environment: Advice to employers and worker representatives. Protecting Workers' Health Series No.6. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- ¹⁸³ World Health Organization. (2008). PRIMA-EF: Guidance on the European framework for psychosocial risk management: A resource for employers and worker representatives. Protecting Workers' Health Series No.9. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- ¹⁸⁴ International Labour Office. (1986). Psychosocial factors at work: Recognition and control. Report of the Joint International Labour Office and World Health Organization on Occupational Health. Ninth Session, Geneva, 18–24 September 1984. Occupational Safety and Health Series No.56. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Office.
- ¹⁸⁵ International Labour Office. (2006). Violence at work (3rd ed.). Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Office.
- ¹⁸⁶ International Labour Office. (2010). Recommendation concerning the list of occupational diseases and the recording and notification of occupational accidents and diseases. ILO Recommendation R194 Revised Annex. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Office.
- ¹⁸⁷ Widerszal-Bazyl, M., Żołnierczyk-Zreda & Jain, A. (2008). Standards related to psychosocial risks at work. In S. Leka & T. Cox (Eds.), *The European framework for psychosocial risk management: PRIMA-EF* (pp. 37–59). Nottingham, UK: Institute of Work, Health and Organisations.
- ¹⁸⁸ International Labour Office (1986) Psychosocial factors at work: Recognition and control. Report of the Joint ILO/WHO Committee on Occupational Health, Ninth Session, Geneva, 18-24 September 1984 www.who.int/occupational_health/publications/ILO_WHO_1984_report_of_ the_joint_committee.pdf
- ¹⁸⁹ To purchase this standard <u>www.iso.org/standard/66900.html</u>
- ¹⁹⁰ See 189.
- ¹⁹¹ See 228.
- ¹⁹² See 189.
- ¹⁹³ www.etuc.org/en/framework-agreement-harassment-and-violence-work
- ¹⁹⁴ www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_isn=62320
- ¹⁹⁵ www.psychologicalharassment.com/laws-sweden.htm
- ¹⁹⁶ See 183.
- ¹⁹⁷ www.jil.go.jp/english/reports/documents/jilpt-reports/no.12_france.pdf
- ¹⁹⁸ www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/report/2007/quality-in-work-and-employment-belgium
- ¹⁹⁹ www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/report/2002/gender-pay-equity-in-europe
- ²⁰⁰ See 189.
- ²⁰¹ www.iso.org/standard/20264.html
- 202 www.worker-participation.eu/EU-Social-Dialogue/Interprofessional-ESD/Outcomes/ Framework-agreements/Framework-agreement-on-stress-at-work-2004
- ²⁰³ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/18
- ²⁰⁴ See 229.
- ²⁰⁵ www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C183
- ²⁰⁶ https://osha.europa.eu/es/legislation/directives/10
- ²⁰⁷ https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31996L0034
- ²⁰⁸ See 229.
- ²⁰⁹ See 183.
- ²¹⁰ See 229.
- ²¹¹ See 183.
- ²¹² https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A31993L0104
- ²¹³ https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32003L0088
- ²¹⁴ http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN01758/SN01758.pdf
- ²¹⁵ www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C175
- ²¹⁶ https://europeanlaw.lawlegal.eu/fixed-term-work/
- ²¹⁷ https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31997L0081
- ²¹⁸ See 183.
- ²¹⁹ See 203.
- 220 See 203
- ²²¹ See 205.
- ²²² See 206.
- ²²³ See 207.
- ²²⁴ See 208.
- ²²⁵ See 239.
- ²²⁶ See 196.

69

- ²²⁷ See 239.
- 228 https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/directive-2002-14-ec-establishing-a-generalframework-for-informing-and-consulting-employees-in-the-european-community
- ²²⁹ See 228.
- ²³⁰ See 183.
- ²³¹ See 239.
- ²³² See 239.
- ²³³ See 183.

²³⁴ www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/article/2005/annual-review-of-working-conditions-inthe-eu-2004-2005

- ²³⁵ See 239.
- ²³⁶ See 224.
- ²³⁷ https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:31976L0207:EN:HTML
- ²³⁸ https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32002L0073
- ²³⁹ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/council-directive-2006-54-ec
- ²⁴⁰ See 239.
- ²⁴¹ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/council-directive-2000-78-ec
- ²⁴² See 239.
- ²⁴³ See 239.
- ²⁴⁴ See 183.
- ²⁴⁵ See 239.
- ²⁴⁶ See 183.
- ²⁴⁷ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/the-osh-framework-directive/1
- 248 https://osha.europa.eu/en/search/directives?filter=&filtertitle=89%2F654&f%5B0%5D=&=Search
- ²⁴⁹ Second Directive following 89/391/EEC https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/3
- 250 https://osha.europa.eu/en/search/directives?filter=&filtertitle=89%2F656&f%5B0%5D=&=Search
- ²⁵¹ https://osha.europa.eu/en/search/directives?filter=&filter-title=90%2F269%2FEEC&f%5B0%5D =&=Search
- 252 <u>https://osha.europa.eu/en/search/directives?filter=&filter-title=90%2F270%2FEEC&f%5B0%5D</u> =&=Search
- ²⁵³ See 239.
- ²⁵⁴ See 239.
- ²⁵⁵ See 187.
- ²⁵⁶ See 189.
- ²⁵⁷ See 183.
- ²⁵⁸ See 187.
- ²⁵⁹ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/the-osh-framework-directive/1
- ²⁶⁰ www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C187
- ²⁶¹ See 183.
- ²⁶² www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/61/106
- ²⁶³ www.dutchcivillaw.com/legislation/workscouncilact.htm
- ²⁶⁴ See 236.
- ²⁶⁵ See 236.
- ²⁶⁶ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/guidelines/guidance-on-work-related-stress
- ²⁶⁷ See 228.
- ²⁶⁸ See 228.
- ²⁶⁹ See 228.
- ²⁷⁰ See 228.
- ²⁷¹ See 210.
- ²⁷² See 211.
- ²⁷³ See 213.
- ²⁷⁴ See 213.
- ²⁷⁵ See 198.
- ²⁷⁶ See 199.
- ²⁷⁷ See 200.
- ²⁷⁸ See 239.
- ²⁷⁹ www.hse.gov.uk/stress/standards/index.htm

²⁸⁰ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/directive-2002-14-ec-establishing-a-generalframework-for-informing-and-consulting-employees-in-the-european-community

- ²⁸¹ See 239.
- ²⁸² See 256.
- ²⁸³ See 210.
- ²⁸⁴ See 213.
- ²⁸⁵ See 211.
- ²⁸⁶ See 197.
- ²⁸⁷ See 239.
- ²⁸⁸ See 236.
- ²⁸⁹ See 239.
- ²⁹⁰ www.hse.gov.uk/stress/standards/index.htm
- ²⁹¹ See 239.
- ²⁹² www.hse.gov.uk/stress/standards/index.htm
- ²⁹³ See 239.
- ²⁹⁴ See 208.
- ²⁹⁵ www.hse.gov.uk/stress/standards/index.htm
- ²⁹⁶ http://parltrack.euwiki.org/dossier/2001/2339(INI)
- ²⁹⁷ www.kth.se/polopoly_fs/1.527926.1550157127!/Provisions%20on%20measures%20against%20 Victima.pdf
- ²⁹⁸ https://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=http://www.google.com/ url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=12&ved=2ahUKEwjryMKbiNjgAhUTeysKHexHAUk QFjALegQIABAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fscholarship.law.cornell.edu%2Fcgi%2Fviewcontent.cgi% 3Farticle%3D1649%26context%3Dcilj&usg=AOvVaw092MqG7f6VITjxi4PJIcP-&httpsredir=1& article=1649&context=cilj
- ²⁹⁹ www.employment.belgium.be/defaultTab.aspx?id=556
- ³⁰⁰ www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/40/contents
- ³⁰¹ www.hse.gov.uk/stress/standards/index.htm
- 302 See 207.
- ³⁰³ https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/directives/directive-2002-14-ec-establishing-a-generalframework-for-informing-and-consulting-employees-in-the-european-community
- 304 See 229.
- 305 See 189.
- 306 See 189.
- 307 See 189.

³⁰⁸ www.government.se/4ac754/contentassets/86e9091526644e90b78d2ff937318530/sfs-19771160-work-environment-act

- 309 See 184.
- ³¹⁰ See 189.
- ³¹¹ See 189.
- ³¹² See 256.
- 313 See 239.
- ³¹⁴ See 224.
- ³¹⁵ See 224.
- ³¹⁶ See 224.
- 317 See 194.
- ³¹⁸ S. Leka & T. Cox (Eds.). (2008). *The European framework for psychosocial risk management: PRIMA-EF.* Nottingham, UK: Institute of Work, Health and Organisations.
- ³¹⁹ See 318 (p. 12).
- 320 See 318 (p. 3).
- 321 See 318.
- 322 www.who.int/occupational_health/publications/global_plan/en/
- ³²³ Leka, S., Jain, A., lavicoli, S. & DiTecco, C. (2015). An evaluation of the policy context on psychosocial risks and Mental health in the workplace in the European Union: Achievements, challenges, and the future. *BioMed Research International*, Article ID 213089.
- ³²⁴ Levi, L. (2005). Working life and mental health: A challenge to psychiatry? World Psychiatry, 4(1), 53–57.
- 325 See 318.
- ³²⁶ See 318 (p. 16).
- 327 See 318.
- ³²⁸ www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/law-and-regulation/model-whs-laws
- ³²⁹ Potter, R., O'Keefe, V., Leka, S., Webber, M. & Dollard, M. (2019). Analytical review of the Australian policy context for work-related psychological health and psychosocial risks. *Safety Science*, 111, 37-48.
- ³³⁰ www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/system/files/documents/1806/work-related_psychological_

health_and_safety_guide.pdf

³³¹ Johnstone, R., Quinlan, M. & McNamara, M. (2011). OHS inspectors and psychosocial risk factors: Evidence from Australia. *Safety Science*, 49(4), 547-557.

- 332 See 331 (p. 4).
- 333 www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/system/files/documents/1804/australian-work-health-safetystrategy-2012-2022v2_1.pdf
- 334 See 323.

335 See 318.

³³⁶ Leka, S., Griffiths, A. J. & Cox, T. (2005). Work-related stress: The risk management paradigm. In A. S. G. Antoniou & C. L. Cooper (Eds.), *A research companion to organizational health psychology.* Chichester, UK: Wiley.

- 337 See 318.
- 338 See 318.

339 See 318.

- ³⁴⁰ LaMontagne, A. D., Keegel, T., Louie, A. M., Ostry, A. & Landsbergis, P. A. (2007). A systematic review of the job stress intervention evaluation literature, 1990–2005. *International Journal* of Occupational and Environmental Health, 13, 268–280.
- ³⁴¹ Egan, M., Bambra, C., Thomas, S., Petticrew, M., Whitehead, M. & Thomson, H. (2007). The psychosocial health effects of workplace reorganisation. 1. A systematic review of organisational-level interventions that aim to increase employee control. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 61, 945–954.
- ³⁴² Bambra, C., Egan, M., Thomas, S., Petticrew, M. & Whitehead, M. (2007). The psychosocial and health effects of workplace reorganisation. 2. A systematic review of task restructuring interventions. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 61, 1028–1037.
- ³⁴³ Bambra, C., Gibson, M., Sowden, A. J., Wright, K., Whitehead, M. & Petticrew, M. (2009). Working for health? Evidence from systematic reviews on the effects on health and health inequalities of organisational changes to the psychosocial work environment. *Preventive Medicine*, 48, 454–461.
- ³⁴⁴ de Lange, H., Taris, T. W., Kompier, M. A. J., Houtman, I. L. & Bongers, P.M. (2002). Effects of stable and changing demand control histories on worker health. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 28, 94–108.
- 345 See 344.
- ³⁴⁶ Wang, J., Schmitz, C., Dewa, C., Stansfeld, S. (2009) Changes in perceived job strain and the risk of major depression: results from a population based study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 169(9):1085-1091.
- ³⁴⁷ Runyan, C. W., Zakocs, R. C. & Zwerling, C. (2000). Administrative and behavioural interventions for workplace violence prevention. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 18, 116–127.
- 348 See 82.
- ³⁴⁹ Beech, B. & Leather, P. (2006). Workplace violence in the health care sector: A review of staff training and integration of training evaluation models. *Aggression and Violent Behaviour*, 11(1), 27–43.
- ³⁵⁰ Tehrani, N. (1999). Introducing trauma care into an organization: From theory into practice. In P. Leather, C. Brady, C. Lawrence, D. Beale & T. Cox (Eds.), *Work-related violence: Assessment and intervention* (pp. 109–126). London, UK & New York, USA: Routledge.
- ³⁵¹ See 350.
- ³⁵² Murphy, L. R. & Sauter, S. L. (2004). Work organization interventions: Stage of knowledge and future directions. *Social and Preventive Medicine*, 49(2), 79–86.
- ³⁵³ Leka, S., Vartia, M., Hassard, J., Pahkin, K., Sutela, S., Cox, T. & Lindstrom, K. (2008). Best practice in interventions for the prevention and management of work-related stress and workplace violence and bullying. In S. Leka & T Cox (Eds.), *The European framework for psychosocial risk management: PRIMA-EF* (pp. 136–173). Nottingham, UK: Institute of Work, Health and Organisations.
- 354 See 353.
- 355 See 353.
- 356 See 353.
- 357 See 353.
- ³⁵⁸ See 353.
- 359 See 353.
- 360 See 353.
- ³⁶¹ See 353.
- 362 See 353.
- 363 See 353.
- 364 See 353.
- ³⁶⁵ Joyce, S., Modini, M., Christensen, H. et al. (2016). Workplace interventions for common mental disorders: A systematic meta-review. *Psychological Medicine*, 46, 683–697.

Disclaimer

WorkSafe New Zealand has made every effort to ensure that the information contained in this report is reliable, but makes no guarantee of its accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability for any errors. The information and opinions contained in this report are not intended to be used as a basis for commercial decisions and WorkSafe accepts no liability for any decisions made in reliance on them. WorkSafe may change, add to, delete from, or otherwise amend the contents of this report at any time without notice.

The material contained in this report is subject to Crown copyright protection unless otherwise indicated. The Crown copyright protected material may be reproduced free of charge in any format or media without requiring specific permission. This is subject to the material being reproduced accurately and not being used in a derogatory manner or in a misleading context. Where the material is being published or issued to others, the source and copyright status should be acknowledged. The permission to reproduce Crown copyright protected material does not extend to any material in this report that is identified as being the copyright of a third party. Authorisation to reproduce such material should be obtained from the copyright holders.

ISBN 978-1-98-856732-7 (print) ISBN 978-1-98-856731-0 (online)

Published: May 2019

PO Box 165, Wellington 6140, New Zealand

worksafe.govt.nz



Except for the logos of WorkSafe, this copyright work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-commercial 3.0 NZ licence.

To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/nz

In essence, you are free to copy, communicate and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, as long as you attribute the work to WorkSafe and abide by the other licence terms.



ISBN 978-1-98-856732-7 (print) ISBN 978-1-98-856731-0 (online)

Level 6, 86 Customhouse Quay PO Box 165, Wellington 6140